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our values

passion for 
natural Health
Our enthusiasm and belief in a natural, 
holistic approach to health inspires us 
to excellence in everything we do.

Integrity
we are honest, trustworthy 
and committed to the highest 
standards of personal, professional 
and business behaviour. 

respect
we treat each other with fairness, 
dignity and compassion and 
we embrace diversity. 

leadership
as a company, in teams and as 
individuals, we use our wisdom, 
experience and knowledge to inspire 
and influence everyone to be their best. 

Social 
responsibility
Our actions demonstrate our 
care, respect and compassion 
for our people, the broader 
community and the environment.

BlaCkmOres’ ‘pirls’ 

Blackmores improves people’s lives by delivering the world’s best 
natural health solutions that become people’s first choice in healthcare. 
We achieve this by translating our unrivalled heritage and knowledge 
into innovative, quality branded healthcare solutions that work.

Blackmores is committed to promoting these values. we encourage staff to  
engage in these guidelines with each other, in business dealings and in day-to-day life. 
the result is a strong and united team working towards a common goal.
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our history

the group operates in australia, new Zealand and 
asia and currently employs more than 500 people in 
the region, with a head office based in Warriewood on 
sydney’s northern Beaches. Blackmores became a 
publicly listed company in may 1985. 

Blackmores has been an industry leader in australia 
for more than 70 years. the Company had its 
beginnings in the 1930s, thanks to the vision and 
passion of one man, maurice Blackmore [1906–
1977], an english immigrant whose ideas about health 
were ahead of their time.

maurice Blackmore’s belief in the health-giving 
properties of herbs and minerals led him to develop 
a whole system of healthcare based on naturopathic 
principles. his views on natural health, preventative 
medicine, the environment and recycling were 
nothing short of radical in the 1930s, and his work 
opened the doors to new ways of treating illness and 
maximising health.

maurice Blackmore was also responsible for starting one 
of Australia’s first health food stores in Brisbane in 1938 
and worked with colleagues and friends to establish the 
first naturopathic colleges and professional associations 
in the country. his beliefs are still valid today and his 
teachings are incorporated into the training programs of 
many natural health practitioners.

since taking the reigns of the business in 1975, 
maurice’s son marcus has continued the family 
traditions established by his father. he has overseen 
the development of Blackmores and made it a world 
leader in the dietary supplements business. 

Blackmores’ products are developed using a 
combination of scientific evidence and hundreds of 
years of traditional knowledge. Our products are 
made to exacting requirements, under the international 
piC/s (pharmaceutical inspection Convention and 
pharmaceutical inspection Co-operation scheme) 
standards of good manufacturing practice. we use 
high-quality ingredients sourced from around the 
world. Our product formulations are approved by 
regulatory bodies where they are sold and are required 
to meet both our own and various governments’ 
stringent standards of safety, quality and efficacy.

Blackmores’ heritage and values are coupled with 
a commitment to superior business performance. 
Our strategic direction is focused on delivering 
growth and continuous improvement to maintain and 
enhance Blackmores’ industry leadership position 
and achieve ongoing success for our Company and 
our shareholders.

australia’s leading natural health Brand
BLACKMORES iS pASSiOnAtE ABOut nAtuRAL hEALth And 
inSpiRES pEOpLE tO tAKE COntROL Of, And invESt in, thEiR 
health and wellbeing. WE ARE LEAdERS in dEvELOping 
And MARKEting pROduCtS And SERviCES thAt dELivER 
A MORE nAtuRAL AppROACh tO hEALth, BASEd On OuR 
expertise in vitamins, minerals, herbs and nutrients.

…to think outside the box
 Carl Gagnon, technical Manager
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Blackmores’ 
products are 
developed using a 
combination of scientific 
evidence and hundreds 
of years of traditional 
knowledge.
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We welcome 
the opportunity 
to further engage 
with our members 
of parliament on the 
future of australia’s 
healthcare system.
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Chairman’s introduction
BlaCkmOres strives tO imprOve 
peOple’s lives By delivering 
the wOrld’s Best natural 
healthCare sOlutiOns. 

Approaching this year, we aimed to:
>   Grow our revenue, profit and shareholder return
>    get closer to our consumers and retail customers 

in all markets
>   invest in and develop our people

i’m pleased to report that in a challenging retail 
environment we have been successful in achieving 
our vision, delivering our ninth consecutive year of 
sales and profit growth. 

we celebrated several important milestones including 
record profit growth from Asia, a successful market 
entry into korea and the acquisition of pure animal 
wellbeing, our new animal health division.

in february 2011, Blackmores hosted an event at 
parliament house to educate our policy-makers 
on the role of natural health supplements in the 
healthcare system. 

we urged them to incorporate complementary 
medicine (Cm) as part of an integrated preventative 
health strategy, to ensure Cms with demonstrable 
public benefit (including fish oil, vitamin D and co-
enzyme Q10) are affordable. we highlighted the 
need for investment in further research, particularly 
in relation to the clinical effectiveness and economic 
contribution of Cm, and for improved education of 
healthcare professionals such as gps and specialists.

since that time, the new Zealand government 
has announced they are developing a stand-alone 
framework for the regulation of natural health 
products. we are hopeful that the australian 
government will seriously consider following the 
lead of their counterparts across the tasman and 
establish a separate regulatory authority, staffed 
by appropriately qualified people, to oversee the 
regulation of complementary medicines in australia.

Blackmores believes that it is in the interest of the 
public and the industry that there are the same rules 
for complementary medicines in new Zealand as in 
australia, much like the rules for rugby.

we welcome the opportunity to further engage with 
our members of parliament on the future of australia’s 
healthcare system.

CharitaBle giving
On a different note, i’ve been inspired by the 
generosity of our staff and customers this year, 
who have given, in various ways, back to the local 
community and incorporated charitable giving into 
how we do business. some examples include:
>   participants of the Blackmores sydney running 

festival raised more than $2.2 million for charities
>   Blackmores’ contribution to the macular 

degeneration foundation has now exceeded  
$3 million

>   Blackmores naturopath elizabeth d’avigdor is at 
the helm of a project helping to restore knowledge 
on growing and using traditional medicinal herbs 
in ethiopia

>   Blackmores’ malaysian team supported the 
serendah waterfall project

>   staff participated in a community partnership 
with Bankstown girls high school through the 
australian Business and Community network

diversity
It is interesting to note that this is the first year 
companies are required to disclose their diversity 
policy. As a company that has always had a significant 
number of women in Board and senior positions we 
naturally embrace diversity. 

we were very pleased when Chief executive 
women and the women’s leadership institute 
Australia announced our Chief Executive Officer and 
managing director, Christine holgate, as winner of 
the 2011 international executive study scholarship 
earlier this year.

Christine has provided strong leadership throughout 
a year that many businesses found challenging and 
which we weathered with great success.

On behalf of the Blackmores Board, i would like 
to thank Christine, the management team and our 
passionate and hardworking staff who have been 
behind this result. finally, my sincere thanks to our 
valued shareholders for your continued support of 
our Company.

Marcus C. blackmore AM
Chairman of the board
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Year in review
Ceo Christine Holgate
dear sharehOlder
2010/2011 WAS A vERy 
SuCCESSfuL yEAR fOR 
BLACKMORES, With AnOthER 
RECORd pROfit RESuLt AChiEvEd 
in A ChALLEnging AuStRALiAn 
retail environment.

i’m very pleased to report that we delivered a 12.4% 
increase in net profit after tax (NPAT) and grew 
sales by 9.1% to $234.4 million. this is an excellent 
result considering the subdued trading conditions 
in australia, the impact of the natural disasters in the 
region and the strength of the australian dollar diluting 
our strong sales from asia. 

Our results were buoyed by our expansion in asia, 
including a successful market entry into korea. 
additionally, each of our asian markets delivered 
double-digit top-line growth in the year. asia sales 
are up 40% and npat is up 129% compared to the 
previous corresponding year. the contribution this 
region makes to our group npat almost trebled, 
with Asia profit comprising 19% of the Group total. 
the added volumes from these sales helped gain 
further efficiencies from our Warriewood facility. 

We also benefited from our renewed focus on 
strategic sourcing of raw ingredients which has 
allowed us to protect and build our gross margins, 
remain in control of our supply chain and optimise our 
innovation program.

highlights
>  12.4% increase in npat (from $24.3m to $27.3m)
>  sales growth of 9.1% (from $214.9m to $234.4m)
>  eps growth of 11.2%
>  12.7% eBitda growth and gross margin 

improvement through supply chain optimisation
>  added over 1,000 points of distribution across  

the group
>  added new streams of revenue
>  Diversified the risk profile of our Company

these highlights were achieved with:
> Solid cash flows
> strong balance sheet
>   record dividends of 124 cents per share

Blackmores’ brand health remains strong and we 
are preferred by both consumers and retailers. we 
have a pipeline of growth projects planned to create 
additional revenue opportunities and ensure the 
ongoing sustainability of our business.
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Blackmores’  
brand health remains 
strong and we 
are preferred by 
both consumers 
and retailers. 
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SALES
group revenue from the sale  
of goods for the year of  
$234.4 million represented 
growth of 9.1% over last  
year’s sales result. 

nEt pROfit AftER tAx
group net profit after tax 
(npat) was $27.3 million 
for the year, representing 
growth of 12.4% on last year’s 
reported profit.

EARningS pER ShARE
Earnings per share increased 
by 11.2% to 163.2 cents.

peOple
employee engagement measures place Blackmores 
among the most desirable employers but we 
recognise the need for continued focus on creating 
opportunities for our staff, developing leadership 
capability and protecting our corporate culture.

we have made several changes to our management 
team in recent months to ensure we have the right 
leadership to meet our growth ambitions and i’m 
delighted that several of these opportunities have 
been filled by internal candidates, which is a strong 
testament to the quality of our team. it has also created 
opportunities to introduce new talent and expertise. 

getting ClOser tO Our CustOmers
pharmacy, our biggest sales channel, has been 
faced with broader challenges over the year and this 
was compounded by the general sluggishness of 
retail sales. notwithstanding these factors, we grew 
our sales in australia by 3% over the year with a 
particularly strong fourth-quarter performance. 

driving innOvatiOn
Blackmores delivered 68 new products across all 
markets over the financial year. a further 72 existing 

products were ‘renovated’ including new pack sizes of 
existing products and formulation improvements. 

grOwing Our Businesses 
Our new pet health business, pure animal wellbeing 
(paw), has been successfully integrated into the 
Blackmores group, has an expanded range and 
achieved 60% sales lift since being acquired by 
Blackmores in July 2010. it is a business we are 
still investing in to grow as consumer interest in pet 
nutrition increases.

in addition, our new market entry into korea in 
december 2010 has already contributed to our 
Group profit. 

new Zealand
Blackmores, working with our local distributor, api, 
gained market share in new Zealand in a very tough 
market, improved sales by 3% and grew share ahead 
of the market in both major channels despite the 
challenges in Christchurch. Our new Zealand growth 
was supported by several successful product launches, 
including Blackmores Macu Vision, which is our first 
registered over-the-counter medicine in new Zealand.

Year in review… continued
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ORdinARy dividEndS
including this year’s final dividend of 80 cents 
per share, total ordinary dividends for the year 
were 124 cents per share (fully franked).  
this represents a 10.7% increase over last year’s 
total ordinary dividends of 112 cents per share.

dEBt
the group’s net debt level was $29.8 million at 
30 June 2011. this is compared to $25.8 million 
in the prior year. gearing, as measured by net 
debt / (net debt + Shareholders’ Equity) was 
27.4%, compared to 26.5% last year. 

we are looking forward to contributing to the 
development of the new natural health products Bill 
which is expected to pass ahead of the november 
government elections. 

leveraging OperatiOnal 
effiCienCies frOm the new faCility
the high volumes resulting from our asia sales growth 
have been well supported by the new efficiencies 
from the warriewood facility. as our capacity grows, 
so too do the customer benefits. for example, more 
than 98% of orders received by 11am are despatched 
the same day. 

dividends and Cash flOw
Including this year’s final dividend of 80 cents per 
share, total ordinary dividends declared out of profits 
for the year were 124 cents per share (fully franked). 
this represents a 10.7% increase over last year’s total 
ordinary dividends of 112 cents per share. 

The Group generated solid operating cash flows 
of $21.6 million. this was lower than the prior year 
as a result of the timing of customer receipts from 
our strong final quarter sales and the phasing of tax 
payments. the group’s net debt of $29.8 million,  
with gearing at 27.4%, includes the impact of the 

July 2010 acquisition of paw and the group taking 
advantage of its high interest cover to suspend the 
dividend reinvestment plan in august 2010.

Blackmores has been engaged in court proceedings 
with the building contractor regarding the 
construction of the Blackmores Campus.  directors 
believe that Blackmores will not face a liability and 
accordingly no liability has been recorded in the 
current year.

Our continued success is a tribute to the strength 
of our brand and the continued support of our retail 
customers, suppliers and employees.

OutlOOk
we are conscious of the continued challenges in the 
australian retail environment. looking ahead, we 
have a strong strategic plan which we will continue 
to implement to drive growth and deliver improved 
returns to our shareholders. 

Christine holgate
ChieF exeCutiVe oFFiCeR
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Building  
our brand
Building Our Brand 
BLACKMORES hAS COnduCtEd 
ExtEnSivE CuStOMER And 
COnSuMER RESEARCh OvER thE 
finAnCiAL yEAR tO iMpROvE 
OuR undERStAnding Of hOW 
OuR BRAnd, BuSinESS And 
pROduCtS ARE pERCEivEd SO WE 
can continually improve. 

Blackmores’ brand equity is very strong, with 
consumers preferring Blackmores to any other vitamin 
company. similarly, retailers believe Blackmores has 
the best products, operations and brand. 

mOst trusted
Blackmores has again been recognised as the most 
trusted vitamin and supplement Brand, in both 
australia and thailand as judged in the 2011 reader’s 
digest most trusted survey. 

this is the third consecutive win for australia and the 
sixth year for thailand. 

the reader’s digest survey polls a representative 
sample of consumers (not necessarily just reader’s 
digest readers) ranking brands on trust.

winning the award in both australia and thailand is 
further demonstration of the confidence consumers 
have in the heritage of the brand and quality of 
Blackmores’ products. 

BlaCkmOres sydney 
running festival
the Blackmores sydney running festival on  
19 september 2010 attracted a record number 
of participants, with more than 34,000 people 
competing in the full marathon, half marathon, 9km 
bridge run and 4km family fun run. the event raised 
more than $2.2 million for charities. 

… to beAt My  
peRsonAl best

 trish Alexander and tiffany elvy

Blackmores has 
again been recognised 
as the most trusted 
vitamin and supplement 
Brand, in both australia 
and thailand
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odourless Fish oil + Vitamin d3
Blackmores’ Odourless fish 
Oil + vitamin d3 combines a 
high-quality odourless fish oil 
and vitamin d3 in a convenient, 
all-in-one formula which provides 
nutrients essential for a healthy 
body. fish oil and vitamin d are 

two of the fastest growing ingredient segments 
in Australia and there is a significant body of evidence 
showing the benefits of these important nutrients. 

Women’s bio balance and 
digestive bio balance™
these two new probiotic 
products feature clinically 
researched strains of ‘good’ 
bacteria that support vaginal 
and digestive health. 

 
blackmores origins range
the Origins range consists of 
seven products developed in line 
with naturopathic trends for the 
heath food store shopper. these 
products complement the core 
Blackmores product range.

Acti-life™ protein 
powder plus
Blackmores acti-life™ 
protein powder plus 
contains whey concentrate 
and helps build muscle 
strength and supports 
healthy bones, helping to 
regain power and agility. 

Asia range expansion
throughout the year 
Blackmores launched many 
new products into our asian 
markets including the Omega 
range of concentrated fish oils in 
hong kong and Joint formula  
in singapore.

researCh
Blackmores collaborates with leading australian 
and international research institutes, hospitals and 
universities, including the heart research institute 
and southern Cross university. 

Blackmores’ research program has been developed 
to explore new indications for existing products and 
investigate new ingredients and areas of benefit for 
natural medicine.

Developing our 
product portfolio 
BLACKMORES dELivEREd 68 nEW pROduCtS ACROSS ALL 
markets over the financial year. A fuRthER 72 ExiSting 
pROduCtS WERE ‘REnOvAtEd’ inCLuding nEW pACK SizES Of 
existing products and formulation improvements. 
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the origins 
range consists 
of seven products 
developed in line 
with naturopathic 
trends for the heath 
food store shopper.
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Sales staff can 
connect our 
customers directly with 
our warehouse facility. 
this ensures a high rate 
of order accuracy and 
reduced order lead time.
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Getting closer  
to our customers 
BLACKMORES hAS iMpLEMEntEd 
A RAngE Of nEW initiAtivES 
duRing thE yEAR tO OptiMiSE 
OuR pERfORMAnCE in 
OuR SALES ChAnnELS And 
iMpROvE OuR RELAtiOnShip 
with our customers.

in australia, this has resulted in more than 300 new 
retailer accounts as well as those supporting our new 
pure animal wellbeing range. 

Blackmores’ electronic data interface (edi) was 
expanded so many of our retail customers are able to 
place an order in their own point of sale system and 
that order can be in our warehouse within 20 minutes. 

sales staff can connect our customers directly with 
our warehouse facility. this ensures a high rate of 
order accuracy and reduced order lead time. 

these changes enable more than 50% of the value of 
our orders to be processed electronically each month.

naturOpathiC advisOry serviCe 
Our naturopathic advisory service (freecall 1800 
803 760) has been operating for over 20 years. this 
service provides consumers, retailers and healthcare 
professionals with the opportunity to talk with a qualified 
naturopath. Blackmores’ naturopaths provided advice 
and support for over 52,600 people via telephone, mail, 
online ‘click to chat’ and personalised email through the 
ask a naturopath service on blackmores.com.au.

there has been a growing trend towards digital 
communication for health information. total online 

communication has increased by 19% over the last year. 
Online chat traffic has grown by over 111%, providing a 
total of 3,243 chat opportunities with our consumers. 

eduCatiOn 
Our naturopathic trainers presented health information 
seminars and training to over 10,000 retail staff 
during the year and processed 5,000 pharmacy 
assistant training initiatives. Blackmores’ successful 
retail e-learning program now has over 3,000 active 
registered users and 15 learning modules. 

Blackmores education department continued its 
commitment to healthcare professional education 
with sponsorships at gpCe general practitioner 
conferences and the pharmacy expo. we have 
maintained strong relationships with the pharmacy 
guild of australia and pharmaceutical society of 
australia and trained over 600 pharmacy students 
in evidence-based use of complementary medicines 
through 12 australian universities. in total we have 
trained over 1,500 healthcare professionals this year.

BlaCkmOres.COm.au
Blackmores’ award-winning website has grown to 
become one of australia’s biggest online health 
communities, with customised content, over 360,000 
members and a number of interactive forums. 

the Company launched a major new website in 
Thailand and has received a significant level of 
interest, fast-growing subscriber numbers and high 
engagement. Blackmores now has websites in all 
major markets. participation in social media, such as 
facebook and twitter, and engagement with online 
communities also continues to grow at a fast rate.

…  to ConneCt With ouR 
online CoMMunities

 Mark Johnson and David Vick



…to get soMe FResh AiR 
And soMe VitAMin d

 Dee Hanley, Financial Accountant
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Growing  
our business
BLACKMORES ACquiREd puRE 
AniMAL WELLBEing (pAW), An 
AniMAL hEALth BuSinESS, in 
July 2010. thE BuSinESS WAS 
SuCCESSfuLLy intEgRAtEd intO 
BLACKMORES’ WARRiEWOOd 
campus in september 2010.

in february 2011, Blackmores launched paw as a 
new division of Blackmores, with 21 new products 
including companion pet nutritional supplements and 
grooming products using natural ingredients. 

paw now has distribution in over 800 veterinary 
clinics and 300 pet stores, with exports to new 
Zealand, north america and korea. sales are up 
60% compared to prior year. 

Visit www.paw4pets.com  
to find out more about this range. 

pAW now has 
distribution in over 
800 veterinary 
clinics and 300 pet 
stores, with exports to 
new Zealand, north 
america and korea.
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Blackmores in Asia

the Blackmores brand is well received in asia and 
our high quality and long heritage align well with 
asian philosophy. 

Blackmores’ growing asia business allows closer 
access to the source of key raw ingredients, has 
enabled diversification of our risk profile and has 
driven increased volumes of stock though our 
warriewood facility, which has been key to protecting 
our gross margins across the group. 

Our largest overseas market, thailand, continued its 
very strong growth performance across all channels 
in both Bangkok and regional thailand. Blackmores 
again won the reader’s digest most trusted Brand 
award, for the sixth year running, reflecting our brand 
position as thailand’s leading natural healthcare brand 
in the retail sector in the dynamic thailand market. 

in malaysia, a combination of key new product 
launches, particularly the heart care range, exceptional 
in-store merchandising and new advertising and 
promotional activities, saw our business achieve 
double-digit growth throughout the year. in 
June Blackmores was awarded the prestigious 
superbrands award in the vitamins & health 
supplements category, which is strictly by invitation. 
Superbrands are identified by an independent survey 
and represent quality, reliability and distinction.

The establishment of Blackmores’ own office in 
singapore, the appointment of a Country manager 
and employment of our own sales force during the 
year enabled Blackmores to significantly enhance 
relationships with key channel partners, and to drive 
strong sales and profit growth for our business in 
this highly competitive market. well-executed new 
product launches in the Cold & flu and arthritis & 

Joint categories further raised our brand profile with 
singaporean consumers.

Our hong kong business underwent a major 
transformation during the year, more than doubling 
sales with the full implementation of our strategy to 
rapidly increase our points of distribution. Blackmores 
now has a strong shelf presence in all major retail 
chains (watsons, mannings, sasa, CrCare and vivo 
plus), independent pharmacies and sales into the 
important hong kong hospital authority. 

Our taiwan business has seen sales quadruple 
during the year as a result of our rapid expansion into 
new channels, particularly with Cosmed, taiwan’s 
dominant healthcare drug store chain, as well as 
enhancing our partnership with watsons. Our full 
Omega range successfully launched in taiwan in the 
fourth quarter with very strong consumer uptake and 
retail channel engagement. 

In December Blackmores entered Korea, our first 
new overseas market entry in five years, through a 
partnership with CJO shopping, korea’s number 
one tv shopping and online retailing company. Our 
launch in korea was a new go-to-market model for 
Blackmores with tv shopping – a dominant channel 
in the korean market. Our three tv shopping 
products, Omega daily, triple action multi + Omega, 
and kids multi, performed extremely well, achieving 
in six months record sales, for a foreign vitamin brand 
in korea. in June we also commenced our expansion 
into offline channels (high-end department stores, 
duty free, drug store and retail chains) to further 
enhance our rapidly growing brand presence in this 
truly dynamic new market for Blackmores.

ASiA’S RECORd SALES gROWth OvER thE LASt yEAR hAS MAdE 
A WELCOME COntRiButiOn tO thE gROup RESuLt givEn 
the lacklustre australian retail environment. 
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the Blackmores 
brand is well 
received in asia and 
our high quality and 
long heritage align well 
with asian philosophy.
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Blackmores will 
add to, nurture and 
develop the collective 
relevant skills and 
diverse experiences 
and attributes of people 
in the Company.
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Investing in  
our people

Consistent with our values Blackmores strives to 
promote a culture that creates a workplace free of 
discrimination and harassment.

diversity at Blackmores recognises and values the 
diverse blend of skills, experiences, perspectives, 
styles and attributes gained from life’s journey, on 
account of culture, gender, age or otherwise.

Blackmores is a diversity leader and we fully integrate 
best practice into all aspects of the workplace and 
how business is conducted. although the key focus 
is gender, Blackmores recognises other forms of 
diversity are also important. 

we have come a long way from our humble 
beginnings in Brisbane. today, staff speak more 
than 20 different languages, for more than 60% of 
Blackmores staff across the globe english is not their 
first language, and 35% of those are in frontline jobs.

For the equal opportunity for Women in the 
Workplace Agency (eoWA) reporting period 
blackmores in Australia averaged 355 employees, 
with 70% of these employees being women.
>   43% (3 of 7) Board directors are women
>   48% of senior managers are women
>   57% of all managers are women

>   64% of supervisors and team leaders are women
>   60% of all professional roles are held by women
>   76% of the para professional/technical roles are 

held by women 
>   89% of the sales team are women
>   87% of the clerical and administration staff  

are women
>   53% of production, despatch and warehouse roles 

are held by women
>   a selection of senior managers participate in 

the Chief executive women (Cew) talent 
development program

in an ongoing effort to maintain diversity,  
Blackmores commits to the following: 
>  add to, nurture and develop the collective relevant 

skills and diverse experiences and attributes of 
people in the Company. 

>  invest in people leaders to grow capacity to 
support and foster flexibility and diversity across 
the Company and ensure management systems 
are aligned to and promote diversity.

“historically Blackmores has focused on putting 
the right people with the right skills in the right 
jobs, and we’ve sought to create a flexible working 
environment,” said marcus Blackmore.  “as a result we 
have a richly diverse workforce.”

COmmitment tO diversity
BLACKMORES hAS ALWAyS hAd A StROng COMMitMEnt tO divERSity, 
BELiEving it pOSitivELy iMpACtS EMpLOyEE EngAgEMEnt, iMpROvES 
BuSinESS pERfORMAnCE, inCREASES ShAREhOLdER vALuE And 
enhances the probability of achievement of corporate obJectives.

… to stARt A detox
 Bianca Hosking and Alison Bull



…to WoRk togetheR
 Sonny Matteo, Distribution operator
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operational 
excellence 
BLACKMORES’ OpERAtiOnS 
tEAM COntinuES tO dELivER 
OpERAtiOnAL iMpROvEMEntS 
tO SuppORt A gROWing 
and dynamic business.

at the forefront is improving how we service our 
customers. We have been able to significantly 
increase our customer delivery processes in the 
western australian distribution centre with the 
introduction of new technology. Our ‘despatched On 
time’ statistics show that a customer order received 
prior to 11am is shipped on the same day more than 
98% of the time. 

we introduced pre-labelled bar-coding of incoming 
components which has significantly increased the 
speed with which goods will move through our 
receiving process. due to this initiative we now receive 
at least 80,000 cartons that no longer require labelling 
during the receiving process, with more suppliers to 
come on board in the new financial year.

 

we continue to leverage our investment in the 
Warriewood production facility to deliver significant 
efficiency and cost gains. For the last six months of 
this financial year, production output has increased by 
26% (based on average daily output compared to the 
previous year) and reduced the average labour and 
overhead cost per unit by 13%.

For the last six 
months  of this financial 
year, production output 
has increased by 26%.
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BLACKMORES pROudLy 
SuppORtEd thE fOLLOWing 

ORgAniSAtiOnS And initiAtivES:

>   macular degeneration 
foundation

>   Osteoporosis australia
>   mindd foundation
>   the mcgrath 

foundation
>   Botanica ethiopia
>   heart research 

institute
>   australian Business 

and Community 
network

>   Queensland flood 
relief

>   malaysia’s waterfall 
project

>   Bilgola surf life  
saving Club

>   mother’s day 
Classic, supporting 
the national Breast 
Cancer foundation

>   young endeavour 
youth scheme
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Social 
responsibility 
australian Business and 
COmmunity netwOrk 
Blackmores was invited to join the australian 
Business and Community network. aBCn’s focus 
is on education and improving opportunities for 
students and schools that are most in need, providing 
mentoring and support programs to schools. the 
aspirations program is a coaching program for year 
11 students which aims to equip students with the 
knowledge and tools to make informed decisions 
about their choices and pathways after school. 
students are coached by mentors in facilitated 
workshops held at company premises. though 
designed to benefit students, the program provides 
Blackmores’ participants with coaching and mentoring 
skills and development, enhanced job satisfaction and 
increased awareness of the wider community. 

serendah waterfall prOJeCt
Blackmores’ malaysian team embarked on an 
environmental project in January 2011. they travelled 
to selangor to clean up the area of the beautiful 
serendah waterfall.

the project was a collaboration with paCer (people 
and Corporate environmental responsibility). the 
organisation’s mission is to ensure the waterfall is 
restored to its original condition and to educate the 
community about civic consciousness and care for  
the environment. 

BOtaniCa ethiOpia
Blackmores naturopath elizabeth d’avigdor 
initiated a project to implement a sustainable and 
replicable indigenous medicinal herb garden in a 
rural community in ethiopia and provide educational 
workshops. the aim of a community medicinal herb 
garden is to provide knowledge about, and access 
to, the indigenous medicinal herbs used to treat 
common complaints so that the herb species and 
knowledge are protected for future generations.

the project included collaboration with southern 
Cross university and addis ababa university and 
was aligned with the global development group.

BilgOla surf life saving CluB
Blackmores is the principal sponsor of the Bilgola 
surf life saving Club which is located near the 
Blackmores Campus on sydney’s northern Beaches. 
this contributes to beach safety for the community 
through the provision of trained lifesavers. Bilgola 
surf life saving Club and Blackmores share a 
common commitment to encouraging the local 
community to be fit and healthy and embrace 
australian beach culture.

matChed dOnatiOns
employees are encouraged to participate in a 
charitable scheme whereby 0.5% of their taxable pay 
is deducted each payday and placed in an interest-
bearing trust account. the Company matches this, and 
twice yearly each participating employee nominates a 
registered charity to receive the donation.

the BlaCkmOres walk at 
sOuthern CrOss university 
The Blackmores Walk was officially opened at 
southern Cross university on 22 march 2011 and 
was the culmination of a five-year project that links 
three key university gardens – the medicinal herb 
garden, the indigenous plant garden, and the newly 
developed students’ food garden.

the Blackmores walk is open to the public and 
fully accessible to people with disabilities. for more 
information visit http://www.scu.edu.au/schools/hahs 

Blackmores naturopath elizabeth d’Avigdor 

in ethiopia.



…to use less pApeR And 
help sAVe the plAnet

	 Shanna	Colver,	Project	Office	Manager
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environmental 
sustainability

we believe as responsible corporate citizens, we must 
address the issues of environmentally sustainable 
practices relating to all aspects of our business, 
demonstrating care, respect and compassion for our 
people, the broader community and the environment.

we have taken a broad-based approach to reducing 
waste across all aspects of the business through our 
involvement with the national packaging Covenant. 
as a signatory to the new australian packaging 
Covenant, Blackmores is committed to reducing 
the environmental impact of our packaging through 
design, closing the recycling loop and demonstrating 
a commitment to good product stewardship.

the Covenant marks ten years of continuous 
improvement in the environmental performance 
of Blackmores’ packaging and waste minimisation.
this was acknowledged at the packaging magazine 
evolution awards in 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009. 
Blackmores was a finalist for these four consecutive 
years in the pharmaceutical packaging action award 
Category, winning twice.

as part of Blackmores’ commitment to further reduce 
carbon emissions and minimise our carbon footprint, 
the conversion of all our fleet vehicles to LPG or 
diesel will be completed in 2011.

BlaCkmOres’ apprOaCh tO 
prOduCt stewardship
Blackmores is aware of the importance of packaging 
design, selection of packaging materials and choice 
of minimal but effective secondary and tertiary 
packaging materials that facilitate the production, 
distribution and retailing of its products. post-
consumer recovery and recyclability are integral to 
this life cycle approach.

the majority of Blackmores’ products are packaged in 
glass with a polypropylene tamper-evident lid. where 
products are placed in cartons, the recyclability of the 
carton is clearly indicated. few products are packaged 
in blisters for on-shelf differentiation or in hdpe jars for 
bulk packs to minimise weight and breakages.

Blackmores has used glass as its preferred container 
since the early 60s based on its superior contents 
protection, recyclability and premium presentation 
on shelf.

recognising that a product’s life cycle necessitates 
a shared responsibility, Blackmores maintains an 
ongoing dialogue with downstream and upstream 
suppliers and customers about its approach to 
sustainable packaging, including disposal, recyclability 
and minimisation of packaging waste.

BLACKMORES hAS A LOng-tERM COMMitMEnt tO 
sustainability and social responsibility. 
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We believe as 
responsible corporate 
citizens, we must 
address the issues 
of environmentally 
sustainable practices 
relating to all aspects 
of our business.
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Management	profiles

Chris last
Chief Financial Officer
Chris has over 20 years of 
experience in finance roles across 
consumer and manufacturing 
industries. he was unilever 
australasia’s director of finance for 
Brand and Customer development. 
Chris has also held senior positions 
with the richemont group of global 
brands including Cartier, dunhill 
and montblanc. Chris holds an 
honours degree in management, 
is a qualified accountant and is 
a member of the association of 
Corporate treasurers in the uk. 

he has a wealth of experience in  
the financial management of 
consumer products and global 
brand management. 

peter osborne
director Asia
peter brings more than 20 years 
of experience in asia, having lived 
and worked in taiwan, hong kong, 
shanghai and Beijing running the 
australian trade Commission’s 
operations in markets in north asia. 
he has extensive experience and 
understanding of asian business 
practice, operating in culturally 
complex business environments 
and leading teams across multiple 
markets. a mandarin Chinese 
speaker, peter has led Blackmores 
asian growth strategy since 2009.

Jim van bruinessen
director of sales & 
Marketing, Australia*
Jim brings over 20 years of 
experience to his role as director of 
sales & marketing, australia. 

his previous senior roles with 
fonterra australia, goodman 
fielder, arnotts and Coca-Cola have 
given him extensive experience in 
developing strategy for businesses 
with diverse sales channels, ranging 
from smaller independent retailers to 
large chain stores. Complementing 
his extensive sales experience, Jim 
has had responsibility for marketing 
services at Coca-Cola South Pacific 
and, as Chief Executive Officer of 
lloyd Brooks pty ltd, a small fmCg 
business, developed a suite of new 
products, media campaigns, brand 
and communications strategies.

*Jim van bruinessen was appointed as director of sales & marketing, australia in July 2011.

Christine holgate
Chief Executive Officer
Christine has over 25 years of international sales and marketing experience working 
in highly regulated industries, including telecommunications, finance, media and 
healthcare. Christine was appointed to her current role as Chief Executive Officer by 
the Board in november 2008. she has held numerous board and senior management 
positions working in europe, asia, the americas and australia. Christine’s prime 
responsibilities have been leading teams through significant change, growth and start 
up. Christine has three post-graduate diplomas, in management, marketing, and 
purchasing and supply; and a master’s degree in Business administration (mBa). 
Christine is also currently a board member of ten network holdings limited.
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Richard henfrey
director strategic sourcing
richard has over 16 years of 
experience in strategic and business 
development roles in highly 
regulated industries in australia, 
europe and north america.

he joined Blackmores in 2009 
as director of people & strategy 
and has implemented numerous 
business improvement initiatives.  
in July 2011, richard was appointed 
as president of the Complementary 
healthcare Council of australia, the 
peak industry association for natural 
healthcare products.

lee Richards
Chief of operations
lee has more than 30 years of 
experience in it, spanning a variety 
of industries from distribution 
and manufacturing through to 
corporate banking. he has been with 
Blackmores since 2000 and, as part 
of the team assembled to manage 
the design and rollout of Blackmores’ 
new business system, lee brought 
a significant level of technical, 
management and business expertise 
with him. he was appointed Chief of 
Operations in 2010, incorporating it, 
production, distribution and facilities.

kerry Cunningham
director people & Communication
kerry’s career at Blackmores has 
spanned over 20 years. she has 
moved through the business in 
sales and marketing roles, with 
her most recent appointment as 
director people & Communication 
in april 2011. her passions in the 
business include customer focus, 
staff engagement, development and 
achieving results.

neal Mercado
director product development
neal has over 15 years of 
experience in the global vitamin and 
dietary supplements industry, with 
an emphasis on strategic marketing 
and new product development. 
he has a proven track record 
of delivering innovation and has 
held a number of roles focused 
on portfolio management and 
global product development for 
multinational corporations including 
amway and ideasphere. 

gabriel perera
director business development
gabriel has over 12 years of senior 
management and business building 
experience. he has expertise in growth 
strategy, m&a, business development 
and general management in the natural 
products industry.

he has experience as a lawyer at 
dla phillips fox, in private hospital 
management, as a senior strategy 
consultant with accenture and in 
senior roles at Blackmores.

gabriel holds an ll.B, a B.Com 
and a masters of Business and has 
advanced his education through 
clinical training.

Alison Quesnel
general Manager – new Zealand
alison has been the general 
manager of our business in nZ 
since 2000. she has considerable 
management and export 
experience across a range of 
categories, sectors and channels. 
alison is a member of the Board 
of natural products new Zealand, 
the industry association for dietary 
supplements in nZ.
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Corporate Governance Statement
thiS CORpORAtE gOvERnAnCE 
StAtEMEnt dEtAiLS BLACKMORES’ 
CORpORAtE gOvERnAnCE pRACtiCES 
And COMpLiAnCE With thE ASx 
CORpORAtE gOvERnAnCE COunCiL’S 
CORpORAtE gOvERnAnCE pRinCipLES 
and recommendations (2nd edition).

this statement should be read in conjunction with the 
directors’ report and remuneration report at pages 34 to 
46 of this annual report and the Corporate governance 
principles available on the Blackmores website at 
blackmores.com.au (go to‘investors Centre’, then click on 
‘Corporate governance’).

a copy of these principles can also be obtained by 
contacting the Company secretary.

prinCiple 1
Lay solid foundations for management and oversight
the Board has adopted a formal Board Charter which, 
among other matters, sets out the responsibilities, structure 
and composition of the Board of directors of the Company. 
the matters which require approval by the Board are 
included. a copy of the Board Charter is available on 
Blackmores’ website. a summary of duties for the Chairman 
and the Chief Executive Officer are reviewed and agreed by 
the Board and include job descriptions for each role.

Blackmores has comprehensive performance guidelines 
in place. Underpinned by clearly defined objectives 
and measures developed through the overall process of 
performance management, each senior executive has had 
their performance assessed in line with the program during 
the year.

prinCiple 2
Structure the Board to add value
the Board reviews its composition from time to time to 
ensure the Board benefits from diversity with regard to 
gender, skills and experience. 

Pages 34 to 35 set out the qualifications, expertise and 
experience of each director at the date of this report and 
their period of office.

the Board considers all of its non-executive directors 
to be independent. the Board regularly assesses the 
independence of each non-executive director. further 
details regarding criteria the Board considers in the 
assessment are contained on Blackmores’ website.

there is a procedure in place which provides for directors 
to take independent advice at the expense of the entity.

mr marcus Blackmore holds the position of Chairman. mr 
Blackmore is also the major shareholder in the Company. 
given the depth of his company experience and industry 
standing, he is considered to be excellently placed to serve 
as Chairman notwithstanding that pursuant to the asx 
recommendation he is not considered an ‘independent’ 
Chairman. the deputy Chairman and lead director, 
mr stephen Chapman, is an independent director. 
the non-executive directors regularly meet without 
executive directors present. for these reasons the asx 
recommendation for an independent Chairman has not 
been adopted.

the Board has established a nominations Committee 
which comprises the full Board. the Board’s policy for 
the nomination and appointment of Directors is to fulfil its 
responsibilities to shareholders by ensuring that the Board 
is comprised of individuals who are best able to discharge 
their responsibilities as directors, having regard to the law 
and the highest standards of governance. a copy of the 
Committee’s Charter is available on Blackmores’ website.

the Chairman of the Board evaluates the performance 
of individual directors and the Board collectively on an 
ongoing basis. periodically, a comprehensive review 
of Board and member performance is conducted. an 
assessment of the Board, its Committees and member 
performance was conducted during the year.

prinCiple 3
promote ethical and responsible decision-making
Blackmores has a Code of Conduct to provide directors 
and employees guidance on what is acceptable behaviour. 
Specifically, the Company requires all Directors, managers 
and employees to maintain the highest standards of integrity 
and honesty. a copy of the Code of Conduct for directors 
and employees is available on Blackmores’ website.

Blackmores has established a policy with respect to trading 
in Blackmores’ shares by directors, management and staff 
in compliance with the asx listing rules requirements. a 
copy of the policy is available on Blackmores’ website.

Blackmores has a strong commitment to diversity, believing it 
positively impacts employee engagement, improves business 
performance, increases shareholder value and enhances the 
probability of achievement of corporate objectives. 

each year Blackmores’ annual report provides 
organisation-wide gender statistics. the Board continues 
to support management in developing a diversity policy 
appropriate for the Company.
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prinCiple 4

safeguard integrity in financial reporting
Blackmores is committed to a transparent system for 
auditing and reporting of the Company’s financial 
performance. the Board has established an audit and risk 
Committee which performs a central function in achieving 
this goal. a copy of the Committee’s Charter is available on 
Blackmores’ website.

the Chair and members of the Committee are independent 
directors. the composition and structure of the Committee 
and membership attendance at meetings of the Committee 
are set out in the directors’ report.

Blackmores’ procedure on the appointment of external 
auditors is available on Blackmores’ website. the 
Committee has the opportunity to meet with the external 
auditors without management present as required.

prinCiple 5
Make timely and balanced disclosure
Blackmores has established policies to ensure the market 
is informed of matters in compliance with the asx listing 
rules disclosure requirements. a copy of the policy is 
available on Blackmores’ website.

prinCiple 6
Respect the rights of shareholders
Blackmores strives to convey to its shareholders and 
the investing public pertinent information in a detailed, 
regular, factual and timely manner. a copy of Blackmores’ 
communication policy is available on Blackmores’ website. 
shareholders are encouraged to ask questions at the annual 
general meeting to ensure a high level of accountability and 
identification with Blackmores’ strategy and goals.

prinCiple 7
Recognise and manage risk
Blackmores has established policies for the oversight 
of material business risks. the Board has directed 
management to design, assess, monitor and review the risk 
management and internal control framework in place to 
manage these risks.

the key risk categories the control framework monitors and 
manages are:
>   strategic risks such as demand shortfalls and failures to 

address competitor moves;
>   Financial Risks such as debt levels or ineffective financial 

management; and
>   Operational risks such as asset loss, cost overruns,  

Oh & s and regulatory breach.

the policies which are in place to manage risk are 
referenced on Blackmores’ website.

the Board has required management to provide a report 
during the financial year as to whether the material business 
risks are being managed effectively. During the financial 
year, both the audit and risk Committee and the Board 
were provided with reports on material risks, including an 
assessment of the inherent risks and the effectiveness of 
controls in place to manage such risk where possible.

The CEO and the Chief Financial Officer have provided 
the Board in writing in accordance with s295a of the 
Corporations act that the full year financial statements 
are founded on a sound system of risk management and 
internal control, which implements the policies adopted 
by the Board, and that the Company’s risk management 
and internal control systems are operating efficiently and 
effectively in all material respects in relation to financial 
reporting risks.

prinCiple 8
Remunerate fairly and responsibly
the remuneration report at pages 38 to 46 sets out  
details of Blackmores’ policy and practices of remuneration 
for non-executive directors, executive directors and 
senior executives.

the Board has established a people and remuneration 
Committee whose primary responsibility is to consider 
the remuneration strategy and policy and to make 
recommendations to the Board that are in the best interests 
of Blackmores and its shareholders. the Committee 
monitors recruitment and development policies which 
encourage workplace diversity both in gender and skills.

the Committee has established processes to ensure 
remuneration advisors are engaged by and work under the 
guidance of the Committee.

a copy of the Committee’s Charter is available on 
Blackmores’ website. the composition and structure of the 
Committee and membership attendance at meetings of the 
Committee are set out in the directors’ report.
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five year histOry

$’000 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

sales1  234,423  214,934 200,314 178,833 171,653

Profit before tax  39,322  34,731 29,228 27,474 24,488

income tax expense  (12,017)  (10,434) (8,446) (8,388) (7,817)

Profit for the year  27,305  24,297  20,782 19,086 16,671

net debt  29,832  25,849 33,640 25,803 5,268

shareholders’ equity  79,112  71,790 58,563 50,351 43,486

total assets  153,130  154,349 138,509 116,874 82,420

Current assets  78,521  80,485 69,544 61,763 56,959

Current liabilities  33,221  34,457 31,903 27,793 22,628

net tangible assets (nta)  74,108  68,748 56,414 49,019 41,869

earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation (eBitda)  46,062  40,887  32,779  28,881 25,814

depreciation and amortisation  4,529  4,141 2,444 1,909 1,572

earnings before interest and tax (eBit)  41,533  36,746 30,335 26,972 24,242

net interest expense / (revenue)  2,211  2,015 1,107 (502) (246)

Net operating cash flows  21,635  25,874 20,468 23,995 16,795

number of shares on issue (’000s)  16,744  16,677  16,402 16,181 16,035

earnings per share (eps) – basic (cents)  163.2  146.8 127.5 118.4 104.3

Ordinary dividends per share (cents) 124.0  112.0 96.0 90.0 81.0

share price at 30 June  $26.70 $22.30 $16.00 $16.40 $20.56 

nta per share $4.43 $4.12 $3.44 $3.03 $2.61 

return on shareholders’ equity2 34.5% 33.8% 35.5% 37.9% 38.3%

return on assets3 27.0% 25.1% 23.8% 27.1% 32.2%

dividend payout ratio 76.0% 76.3% 75.3% 76.0% 77.7%

gearing ratio4 27.4% 26.5% 36.5% 33.9% 10.8%

eBit to sales 17.7% 17.1% 15.1% 15.1% 14.1%

effective tax rate 30.6% 30.0% 28.9% 30.5% 31.9%

Current assets to current liabilities (times)  2.36 2.34 2.18 2.22 2.52

net interest cover (times)5  18.8 18.2 10.0 38.0 36.5

gross interest cover (times)5  17.5  15.0 9.2 22.3 24.4

% change on prior year
sales 9.1% 7.3% 12.0% 4.2% 16.0%

eBitda 12.7% 24.7% 13.5% 11.9% 18.1%

eBit 13.0% 21.1% 12.5% 11.3% 21.2%

Profit for the year 12.4% 16.9% 8.9% 14.5% 22.4%

eps 11.2% 15.1% 7.7% 13.6% 21.7%

Ordinary dividends per share 10.7% 16.7% 6.7% 11.1% 17.4%

1.  represents revenue from the sale of goods and excludes other revenue items.

2.  Calculated as net profit after tax divided by closing shareholders’ equity.

3.  Calculated as eBit divided by average total assets.

4.  gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by the sum of net debt and shareholders’ equity.

5.  net and gross interest cover is calculated after adjusting interest expense for capitalised interest in 2009, 2008 and 2007.



34

Directors’ report
thE diRECtORS Of BLACKMORES LiMitEd (BLACKMORES) pRESEnt 
thEiR REpORt tOgEthER With thE finAnCiAL StAtEMEntS Of thE 
gROup, BEing BLACKMORES And thE EntitiES it COntROLLEd 
at the end of or during the year ended 30 June 2011.

stephen J Chapman
BCOmm, mBa, Ca, fa iCd

deputy Chairman and lead 
independent director
mr Chapman is an investment 
banker and joined the Board 
in september 1993. he was a 
founder and is the executive 
Chairman of Baron partners 
limited, an australian investment 
bank. he is also a director of 
Onepath funds management 
limited group and is Chairman 
of e*trade australia limited 
group. he was previously 
a director of Onepath 
australia limited, Onepath 
life limited and macquarie 
radio networks limited.

Verilyn C Fitzgerald
maiCd

independent director
ms fitzgerald joined the Board in 
may 1997. she has over 25 years 
of experience in international 
corporate management and 
experience as a director of 
public companies in the health 
and it industries in australia and 
was a director of independent 
practitioner network limited. 

naseema sparks
Bpharm, mpharm (pharmaCO l), mBa, 
gaiCd

independent director
ms sparks joined the Board in 
October 2005. she graduated as 
a Bachelor of pharmacy followed 
by a master of pharmacology. 
she also holds an mBa from 
melbourne Business school. with 
a background in pharmaceutical 
and strategic consulting, ms 
sparks has worked in the pharma 
industry, management consulting 
and advertising in australia and 
the uk. her most recent role 
was managing director of m&C 
saatchi. ms sparks is currently 
a director of pmp limited, 
dealsdirect and is on the advisory 
boards of Chartis australia 
limited, Osteoporosis australia 
and the sydney dance Company. 
her previous directorships 
include mitchell Communication 
group limited.

direCtOrs’ details
Details of each Director’s qualifications, experience and special responsibilities are set out below.
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Robert l stovold
independent director
Mr Stovold is a qualified 
accountant with over 35 years 
of experience in corporate 
management, mergers and 
acquisitions and the property 
industry. he joined the Board 
in august 1996. Over the 
past 25 years, mr stovold 
has served as an independent 
director on the boards of a 
number of listed and unlisted 
public companies operating in a 
variety of commercial activities, 
including previously as a 
director of Canberra investment 
Corporation limited.

brent W Wallace
BCOmm (marketing), gaiCd

independent director
mr wallace joined the Board 
in October 2005. he is a 
cofounder and CeO of galileo 
kaleidoscope, a company known 
for its strategic marketing, 
brand and consumer research 
solutions. mr wallace has over 
30 years of experience in 
marketing, advertising and brand 
development across a wide 
variety of consumer categories. 
he has held senior positions in 
london and sydney advertising 
agencies and until 1996 was 
managing director of Ogilvy & 
mather in australia. mr wallace 
is also a Board director and 
governor of world wildlife fund, 
the global environmental group.

Christine holgate
Chief Executive Officer 
and Managing director
ms holgate was appointed to 
her current role by the Board in 
november 2008. she has over 
25 years of international sales and 
marketing experience in highly 
regulated industries, including 
telecommunications, finance, 
media and healthcare. she has 
held numerous board and senior 
management positions, working 
in europe, asia, the americas 
and australia. ms holgate’s prime 
responsibilities have been leading 
teams through significant change, 
growth and start-up. ms holgate 
has three post-graduate diplomas 
in management, marketing and 
purchasing and supply; and a 
master’s degree in Business 
administration (mBa). ms 
holgate is also currently a board 
member of ten network holdings 
limited. she was previously a 
director of keyCorp limited.

Marcus C blackmore AM
nd, MAiCd

Chairman
mr Blackmore has served on the Board since October 1973 
and is the Chairman of the Company. he is also an honorary 
doctor of southern Cross university, a director of the young 
endeavour youth scheme, member of the nsw maritime 
advisory Council, deputy Chairman of the defence reserves 
support Council and an honorary trustee of the Committee for 
the economic development of australia (Ceda).
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direCtOrs’ sharehOldings
the following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in 
all financial instruments issued by Blackmores as at the date of 
this report.

diReCtoRs

Fully pAid 
oRdinARy 

shARes
shARe 

Rights

s Chapman 22,055 -

v fitzgerald 10,216 -

n sparks - -

r stovold 27,910 -

B wallace 12,161 -

m Blackmore 4,479,278 -

C holgate 90,233 18,369

total 4,641,853 18,369

share rights granted tO 
direCtOrs and seniOr exeCutives
selected senior executives are invited annually by the Board to 
participate in the executive performance share plan (epsp). 
under this plan, eligible senior executives are granted rights to 
acquire shares in Blackmores. refer to page 40 for more details. 
during the year, the following rights to shares were granted:

2011 2010

nuMbeR nuMbeR

executive director
C holgate 26,699 33,081

senior executives
k Cunningham1 1,140 -

r henfrey 5,504 6,294

C last 5,002 1,155

n mercado2 313 -

p Osborne 4,574 -

g perera3 313 -

l richards 5,083 5,405

former senior executives
p Barraket4 5,421 6,718

g Burgoyne5 - 5,744

l Burrows - 5,408

s moore4 5,252 6,502

r rich6 - 136

1.   Rights granted during the 2011 financial year for K Cunningham are for the 
period as a senior executive (1 april 2011 to 30 June 2011).

2.   Rights granted during the 2011 financial year for N Mercado are for the period 
as a senior executive (1 June 2011 to 30 June 2011).

3.   Rights granted during the 2011 financial year for G Perera are for the period 
as a senior executive (1 June 2011 to 30 June 2011).

4.   rights granted during the 2011 year to p Barraket and s moore did not vest as 
they left employment during the 2011 financial year.

5.   rights granted during the 2010 year to g Burgoyne did not vest as he left 
employment during the 2010 financial year.

6.   Rights granted during the 2010 financial year for R Rich are for the period as 
acting senior executive (1 may 2009 to 3 september 2009) prior to taking 
on a new role within the group.

share OptiOns
During and since the end of the financial year, no share options 
were in existence and no new share options were granted to 
directors or senior executives of Blackmores.

remuneratiOn Of direCtOrs and 
key management persOnnel
information about remuneration of directors and key 
management personnel is set out in the remuneration report 
of this directors’ report, on pages 38 to 46.

COmmittee memBerships
as at the date of this report, the Company had an audit and 
risk Committee, a nominations Committee and a people and 
remuneration Committee. members of the Board acting on 
the Committees during the year were:

Audit and Risk: robert stovold, Chair

stephen Chapman

verilyn fitzgerald

Brent wallace

nominations: verilyn fitzgerald, Chair

marcus Blackmore

stephen Chapman

Christine holgate

naseema sparks

robert stovold

Brent wallace

people and 
Remuneration: verilyn fitzgerald, Chair

marcus Blackmore

stephen Chapman

naseema sparks

Company Secretary
Cecile Cooper BBus, dip inv rel (aira), gaiCd.  
ms Cooper joined Blackmores in 1991 as finance manager. 
she has held a variety of positions and her experience includes 
enterprise resource planning system implementations, design 
of business reporting solutions and business management.  
Ms Cooper is a Certified Practising Accountant and 
Chartered secretary.
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direCtOrs’ repOrt
fOr the finanCial year ended 30 June 2011

prinCipal aCtivities
the principal activity of the Blackmores group in the course 
of the financial year was the development and marketing 
of health products including vitamins, herbal and mineral 
nutritional supplements. the Blackmores group sells and has 
operations in australia, new Zealand and asia.

review Of OperatiOns
The net amount of profit attributable to the shareholders 
(‘NPAT’) of the Blackmores Group for the financial year was 
$27.3 million (2010: $24.3 million) which represents a 12% 
increase over the prior year. sales for the year were $234.4 
million (2010: $214.9 million), an increase of 9% compared to 
the prior year. Basic earnings per share (‘eps’) increased from 
146.8 cents per share to 163.2 cents per share (an increase 
of 11%). net tangible assets per share increased from $4.12 
last year to $4.43 this year. net debt increased from $25.8 
million last year to $29.8 million this year and the gearing ratio 
increased from 26.5% last year to 27.4% this year.

Changes in state Of affairs
During the financial year there was no significant change in 
the state of affairs of the Blackmores group other than that 
referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto and 
elsewhere in the annual report of Blackmores for the year 
ended 30 June 2011.

suBseQuent events
there has not been any matter or circumstance, other than that 
referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto, that has 
arisen since the end of the financial year, that has significantly 
affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the 
Blackmores group, the results of those operations, or the state 
of affairs of the Blackmores Group in future financial years.

future develOpments
disclosure of additional information not already disclosed in 
the annual report of Blackmores for the year ended 30 June 
2011 regarding the business strategies, prospects and likely 
developments in the operations of the Blackmores group 
in future financial years and the expected results of those 
operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the 
Blackmores group. accordingly, this information has not been 
disclosed in this report.

envirOnmental regulatiOns
the Company monitors its legal obligations and has its own 
self-imposed policies. the directors believe that the Company 
complies with all aspects of the environmental laws. the 
Company is a party to the australian packaging Covenant, an 
agreement between industry and government which ensures 
that the management of packaging and paper throughout 
their life-cycle produces sustainable, cost-effective benefits to 
the environment.

OCCupatiOnal health and safety
the Company’s Occupational health and safety Committee 
meets monthly and monitors the business by conducting 
regular audits of the premises. any safety matters raised 
either by staff, the audits or from an investigation of any 
workers’ compensation claims are reviewed and, where 
appropriate, changes made to operating procedures. staff are 
encouraged to make safety suggestions to their departmental 
representatives. all Committee members are given the 
necessary training for the position.

COrpOrate gOvernanCe
in recognising the need for the highest standards of 
corporate behaviour and accountability, the directors of 
Blackmores support and have adhered to key principles of 
corporate governance. the Company’s current corporate 
governance principles are set out on the Company’s website 
at blackmores.com.au (go to ‘investor Centre’, then click on 
‘Corporate governance’). a separate section in this annual 
report on pages 30 to 31 outlines the Company’s current 
Corporate governance principles and practices.

dividends
the amounts paid or declared by way of dividend since the 
start of the financial year were:

•   A final dividend of 70 cents per share fully franked in 
respect of the year ended 30 June 2010, as detailed in the 
Directors’ Report for that financial year, was paid on 20 
september 2010.

•   An interim dividend of 44 cents per share fully franked in 
respect of the year ended 30 June 2011 was paid on 22 
march 2011.

•   On 18 August 2011, Directors declared a final dividend for 
the year ended 30 June 2011 of 80 cents per share fully 
franked, payable on 15 september 2011 to shareholders 
registered on 1 september 2011.

this will bring total ordinary dividends to 124 cents per share 
fully franked (2010: 112 cents per share fully franked) for the 
full year.

indemnifiCatiOn Of 
OffiCers and auditOrs
During the financial year, Blackmores paid a premium in 
respect of a contract insuring the directors, the Company 
Secretary and all Executive Officers of the Blackmores Group 
against any liability incurred as such a director, Company 
Secretary or Executive Officer to the extent permitted by the 
Corporations act 2001. the contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the 
premium. Blackmores has not otherwise, during or since the 
end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an 
Officer or auditor of the Blackmores Group against a liability 
incurred as such an Officer or auditor.
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direCtOrs’ meetings
The number of Directors’ meetings held (including meetings of Committees of Directors) during the financial year are as follows:

BOARd Of diRECtORS
Audit And RiSK 

COMMittEE nOMinAtiOnS COMMittEE

pEOpLE And 
REMunERAtiOn 

COMMittEE

diReCtoRs held 1 Attended held 1 Attended held 1 Attended held 1 Attended

m Blackmore 7 7 - - - - 5 5

s Chapman 7 7 3 3 - - 5 5

v fitzgerald 7 7 3 3 - - 5 5

C holgate 2 7 7 3 3 - - 5 5

n sparks 7 7 - - - - 5 5

r stovold 7 6 3 3 - - - -

B wallace 7 6 3 3 - - - -

1. Reflects the number of meetings held during the time that the Director held office during the year.

2. C. holgate’s attendance at the audit and risk Committee and people and remuneration Committee was as an invitee.

statement Of nOn-audit serviCes
The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit 
services during the year by the auditor (or by another person 
or firm on the auditor’s behalf) is compatible with the general 
standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 
Corporations act 2001. details of amounts paid or payable to 
the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year by 
the auditor are outlined in note 11 to the financial statements.

directors have accepted a statement from the auditor that it 
is satisfied that the provision of these services did not breach 
the independence standards included in the Corporations 
act 2001. Based on this statement from the auditor and 
having regard to the nature and fees involved in the provision 
of these non-audit services, the Directors are satisfied that 
the provision of non-audit services during the year by the 
auditor (or other person or firm on the auditor’s behalf) did 
not compromise the audit independence requirements of the 
Corporations act 2001.

auditOr’s independenCe 
deClaratiOn
a copy of the auditor’s independence declaration is set out 
on page 47 of this annual report.

rOunding Off Of amOunts
in accordance with the australian securities and investments 
Commission (asiC) Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 
1998, the amounts in the Directors’ Report and the financial 
report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise indicated.

remuneratiOn repOrt — audited
to retain our position as australia’s leading natural health 
brand, and to achieve ongoing success for our Company 
and shareholders, it is important for Blackmores to retain and 
attract the best and brightest in the industry.

this remuneration report forms part of the directors’ report 
and sets out information about the remuneration of Blackmores 
limited directors and other key management personnel.
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key management persOnnel
key management personnel encompasses all directors 
(executive and non-executive) as well as those executives 
who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the Blackmores group, directly 
or indirectly. in this report, the terms:
•   ‘Executive Directors’ refers to the Chairman and Chief 

Executive Officer; and
•  ‘Senior Executives’ refers to the Key Management 

personnel, excluding the directors.

the following table lists all the current key management 
Personnel referred to in this report, including the five highest 
remunerated executives of the Company and the group.

non-executive directors
stephen Chapman non-executive director, deputy 

Chairman, member of the audit 
and risk Committee and member 
of the people and remuneration 
Committee

verilyn fitzgerald non-executive director, Chairman 
of the people and remuneration 
Committee and member of the 
audit and risk Committee

naseema sparks non-executive director and 
member of the people and 
remuneration Committee

robert stovold non-executive director and 
Chairman of the audit and risk 
Committee

Brent wallace non-executive director and 
member of the audit and risk 
Committee

executive directors
marcus Blackmore Chairman of the Board, member 

of the people and remuneration 
Committee

Christine holgate Chief Executive Officer and 
managing director

senior executives
kerry Cunningham director people and 

Communication

richard henfrey director strategic sourcing

Chris last Chief Financial Officer

neal mercado director product development

peter Osborne director asia

gabriel perera director Business development

lee richards Chief of Operations

the remuneration policy and programs detailed in this report 
also apply to other senior Blackmores group management 
not included as key management personnel. 

this report provides disclosure around the following topics:
1.  remuneration policy
2.   relationship between remuneration policy and the 

Blackmores group’s performance
3.   performance-based remuneration
4.   remuneration disclosures for directors and key 

management personnel
5.   share-based payments
6.   employment Contracts
7.   non-executive directors’ remuneration

1.  remuneratiOn pOliCy
Blackmores remunerates its people fairly and responsibly. 
Our remuneration policy is transparent and linked to both the 
individual’s and group performance. these guidelines are 
underpinned by clearly defined objectives and measures, 
with each senior executive assessed in line with our 
performance management program.

in determining performance conditions, Blackmores aims 
to align senior executive interests with the interests of 
shareholders and the group, recognising eps growth as the 
key driver of shareholder value.

the Board of directors have established a Committee 
of directors known as the people and remuneration 
Committee. the primary responsibilities of the people and 
remuneration Committee are to consider remuneration 
strategy and policy for senior executives and non-executive 
directors of Blackmores and to make recommendations to 
the Board that are in the best interests of Blackmores and 
its shareholders. the people and remuneration Committee 
operates in accordance with Blackmores’ Corporate 
governance principle 8, particulars of which are available on 
the Company’s website at blackmores.com.au (go to ‘investor 
Centre’, then click on ‘Corporate governance’). 

the people and remuneration Committee obtains specialist 
external advice about remuneration structure and levels. 
the advice is used to support its assessment of the market to 
ensure that senior executives and non-executive directors 
are being rewarded appropriately, given their responsibilities 
and experience. executive remuneration packages are also 
reviewed annually to ensure that an appropriate balance 
between fixed and incentive pay is achieved.

the people and remuneration Committee has established a 
remuneration policy in order to:
•    encourage a strong and long-term commitment to 

Blackmores;
•   attract and retain talented Senior Executives and  

directors; and
•   enhance Blackmores’ earnings and shareholder wealth.
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fixed and performance-related remuneration are structured 
to provide an incentive to senior executives to maximise 
Blackmores’ profitability and increase returns to shareholders. 
performance-related remuneration provides executives with 
tangible incentives to meet Blackmores’ objectives. participation 
in incentive plans provides senior executives with the opportunity 
to share in the success and profitability of Blackmores and aligns 
executives’ interests with those of shareholders.

the Board’s current policy regarding remuneration for senior 
executives is summarised below. non-executive directors are 
remunerated on a different basis to senior executives, as set 
out in section 7 of this report.

SEniOR ExECutivE REMunERAtiOn
(a)   Fixed remuneration reflects core performance 

requirements and expectations and is targeted to be 
reasonable and fair, taking into account senior executives’ 
responsibilities and experience compared to competitive 
market benchmarking against companies with relative size 
and scale of Blackmores’ operations.

(b)   short-term incentives (sti) comprise cash payments 
linked to clearly specified annual performance targets. 
this element of remuneration is considered to be an 
effective tool in promoting the interests of Blackmores 
and its shareholders. the sti scheme is designed 
around appropriate performance benchmarks based on 
Blackmores’ npat performance relative to budget.

(c)   Senior Executives participate in the same profit share plan 
as all permanent Blackmores staff.

(d)   long-term incentives (lti): the executive performance 
share plan (epsp) was approved at Blackmores’ annual 
general meeting in november 2008. participation 
is open to senior executives determined to be eligible 
by the Board. under this plan, rights to acquire shares 
in Blackmores are granted annually to eligible senior 
Executives at no cost and vest provided specific 
performance hurdles are met.

(e)   special long-term incentives (slti): from time to time 
the Board may offer ‘one-off’ sltis to particular senior 
executives in addition to the lti as outlined in (d) above.

2.  relatiOnship Between 
remuneratiOn pOliCy 
and the BlaCkmOres 
grOup’s perfOrmanCe

Consistent with Blackmores’ remuneration policy, the 
performance-based components of senior executive 
remuneration are designed to align the interests of the 
senior executives with the interests of Blackmores and its 
shareholders, with the objectives of growing Blackmores’ 
earnings and increasing shareholder wealth. performance-

based remuneration is periodically reviewed and revised 
to ensure it continues to drive these objectives. npat and 
EPS have been identified as key drivers of shareholder value 
and have consistently been used as performance measures 
in short-term and long-term incentive plans. Blackmores’ 
policy is that short-term and long-term incentives will only be 
awarded when Blackmores meets performance hurdles.

Blackmores’ eps growth is illustrated in the following graph.

EpS gROWth

3.  perfOrmanCe-Based 
remuneratiOn

3.1 short-term incentives (sti)
3.1.1 peRFoRMAnCe Conditions
(a)   under the current remuneration policy, unless Blackmores’ 

npat is at least 95% of budgeted npat for the relevant 
financial year, no STI payments will be made. If this target 
is reached, sti payments are made according to a sliding 
scale based on actual npat relative to budget.

STI awards also reflect individual performance against 
objectives. typical individual performance targets include 
financial-based targets and non-financial goals that measure 
alignment with Blackmores strategic objectives. an example 
of a core strategic objective is to ‘invest and develop 
employees’. performance targets for this objective include 
assessment against the annual employee Climate survey 
results and Occupational health and safety measures.
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remuneratiOn repOrt
the person to whom a senior executive reports assesses that 
individual’s performance by reviewing his or her individual 
objectives, key tasks and performance indicators and the 
extent to which they have been achieved. individual objectives 
are set at the start of each financial year and are formally 
reviewed every six months. the Board reviews performance 
assessments for key management personnel.

subject to personal performance achievement, an example of 
the maximum sti payment at various levels of group npat as 
a percentage of budget is shown in the following table.

gROup  
npAt AS A 
pERCEntAgE 
Of BudgEt 

ChAiRMAn 
MAxiMuM 

Sti

ChiEf 
ExECutivE 

OffiCER 
MAxiMuM Sti

SEniOR 
ExECutivES 

MAxiMuM 
Sti

(As % oF bAse ReMuneRAtion)

less than 95% 0% 0% 0%

equal to 100% 15.0% 25.0% 17.5%

equal to 110% 40.0% 41.0% 42.5%

equal to 120% 60.0% 57.0% 62.5%

equal to or greater 
than 125% 65.0% 65.0% 67.5%

the Chairman’s sti payment is based on npat as a 
percentage of budget.

(b)  as mentioned on page 40 under section 1(c), senior 
Executives participate in a profit share plan, whereby 10% of the 
group npat is allocated to all eligible permanent group staff 
on a pro-rata basis by reference to their base remuneration. the 
profit share plan is in addition to the STI award described  
in 3.1.1(a)

3.1.2 RAtionAle FoR peRFoRMAnCe Conditions
npat performance relative to budget is a well-recognised 
measure of financial performance and a key driver of 
shareholder returns. using npat as an incentive performance 
measure ensures that incentive payments are aligned with 
Blackmores’ business strategy and objectives.

the npat budget is approved on an annual basis by the Board 
and incentive targets are set by the Board at levels designed 
to reward superior performance. npat is calculated by 
Blackmores at the end of the financial year and verified by 
reference to Blackmores’ audited financial statements before 
any payment is made. this method was chosen to ensure 
transparency and consistency with disclosed information.

individual performance was selected as a secondary 
performance condition to ensure that senior executives have 
clear objectives and performance indicators that are linked to 
Blackmores’ performance.

3.1.3 sti oppoRtunity AWARded
the table below shows the percentage of sti opportunity 
awarded and the % of base remuneration that this represented 
in respect of the 2011 financial year.

nAMe

% AWARded oF 
the MAxiMuM 

AVAilAble
% oF bAse 

ReMuneRAtion

executive director
marcus Blackmore 47.4% 32.0%

Christine holgate 53.2% 34.6%

senior executives
kerry Cunningham1 48.9% 33.0%

richard henfrey 48.9% 33.0%

Chris last 48.9% 33.0%

neal mercado1 47.4% 32.0%

peter Osborne 51.1% 34.5%

gabriel perera1 47.4% 32.0%

lee richards 48.9% 33.0%

former Senior 
executives
peter Barraket2 0% 0%

liz Burrows3 0% 0%

sue moore2 0% 0%

1. attributable to the period as a senior executive.

2. Peter Barraket and Sue Moore left employment during the financial year.

3. liz Burrows took a new role in the group.

3.2 long-term incentives (lti)
3.2.1 peRFoRMAnCe Conditions
selected senior executives are invited annually by the Board 
to participate in the epsp. under this plan, eligible senior 
executives are granted rights to acquire shares in Blackmores. 
the value of rights granted to senior executives is equivalent 
to a percentage of their base remuneration at the time of grant.

the number of rights granted to a senior executive other than 
the CeO is equivalent to 40% of their base remuneration (or 
100% in the case of the CeO) divided by:
•   the weighted average price of Blackmores’ shares for 

the five day trading period commencing seven days after 
Blackmores’ results in respect of the prior financial year 
(year ended 30 June 2010) are announced to the asx, less

•   the amount of any final dividend per share declared as 
payable in respect of the prior financial year 

the number of rights vesting to senior executives other than 
the CeO are determined according to eps growth in the 
financial year calculated according to the following formula:

(5% + (eps growth% less 4%) x 2.5)

40

provided that eps growth is at least equal to 4%.
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for senior executives an example of the number of rights 
vesting and the equivalent percentage of their base 
remuneration at various levels of eps growth is shown in the 
following table:

eps gRoWth

nuMbeR oF 
Rights Vesting 

(% oF totAl)
% oF bAse 

ReMuneRAtion

less than 4% 0% 0%

4% 12.5% 5.0%

8% 37.5% 15.0%

12% 62.5% 25.0%

16% 87.5% 35.0%

equal to or  
greater than 18% 100.0% 40.0%

in the case of the CeO, rights vest in line with eps growth.

for the CeO an example of the number of rights vesting and 
the equivalent percentage of base remuneration at various 
levels of eps growth is shown in the following table.

eps gRoWth

nuMbeR oF 
Rights Vesting 

(% oF totAl)
% oF bAse 

ReMuneRAtion

less than or equal to 4% 0% 0%

greater than 4% but 
less than or equal to 5% 25.0% 25.0%

greater than 7%  
but less than or equal 
to 8% 37.5% 37.5%

greater than 11%  
but less than or equal 
to 12% 68.8% 68.8%

greater than 16% 100.0% 100.0%

rights are automatically exercised following vesting, audit 
clearance of the financial statements and Board approval  
and Blackmores shares are issued to participants at zero cost. 
the number of shares issued is identical to the number of 
rights exercised.

shares issued to the CeO and senior executives are subject 
to restrictions referred to as a ‘holding lock’. during this period, 
participants are entitled to dividend income and have voting 
rights, but may not sell them or transfer their ownership. if 
participants are employed by Blackmores at the end of the 
two year period following vesting, the holding lock is lifted 
and participants acquire full beneficial and legal ownership of 
the shares. if the CeO or a senior executive resigns or their 
employment is terminated during the holding lock period 
(except for reasons such as death, serious injury, disability, illness 
or involuntary early retirement), shares subject to the holding 
lock are forfeited.

in the case of the Chairman a cash equivalent is paid in lieu of 
shares calculated according to the same formula as applies to 
senior executives.

3.2.2 RAtionAle FoR peRFoRMAnCe Conditions
in determining the performance conditions for Blackmores’ 
lti plan, the Board has recognised eps growth to be the key 
driver of shareholder value, influencing both share price and 
the capacity to pay increased dividends. growth in eps is 
simple to calculate and basing the vesting of rights on eps 
growth encourages senior executives to improve Blackmores’ 
financial performance. As Senior Executives increase their 
shareholding in Blackmores through awards received under 
the epsp, their interests become more directly aligned with 
those of Blackmores’ other shareholders.

Growth in EPS is calculated at the end of the financial year 
and verified with reference to Blackmores’ audited Financial 
statements prior to determining the number of rights that will 
vest. this method was chosen as it is an objective test, is easy 
to calculate and ensures transparency and consistency with 
public disclosures.

in the event of Blackmores experiencing an unusual decline in 
npat (eps), the base for the next year will be reset by the Board 
in consultation with the people and remuneration Committee.

3.3 staff share acQuisition plan
Blackmores established a staff share acquisition plan during 
the financial year ended 30 June 2006. The plan is open to all 
employees, including senior executives, who may purchase up 
to $1,000 of Blackmores’ shares tax free each year (subject to 
taxable income threshold limits) with money that would have 
otherwise been received under the profit share plan (refer to 
section 3.1.1(b) of this remuneration report).

Blackmores’ share trading policy prohibits executives from 
entering into any transaction which operates to hedge the 
exposure of unvested shares received under any share 
incentive plan, unless prior approval is provided by the Board.
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4.   remuneratiOn disClOsures fOr direCtOrs 
and key management persOnnel

The following table discloses the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors for the financial year ended 30 June 2011.

ShORt-tERM EMpLOyMEnt BEnEfitS

pOSt- 
EMpLOyMEnt 

BEnEfitS

OthER 
LOng-tERM 

EMpLOyMEnt 
BEnEfitS

ShARE-BASEd 
pAyMEnt

sAlARy And 
Fees

$

sti And pRoFit 
shARe 1

$

non-Mone-
tARy 2

$
otheR 3

$

supeRAnnuA-
tion

$
otheR 4

$

shARes And 
Rights

$
totAl

$

% oF peRFoR-
MAnCe bAsed 

ReMuneRAtion
%

% oF non- 
peRFoRMAnCe 

bAsed ReMu-
neRAtion

% oF  
ReMuneRAtion 

Rights

non-executive directors
stephen Chapman
2011 117,342 - - - 21,836 - - 139,178 - 100.0% -
2010 99,713 - - - 19,996 - - 119,709 - 100.0% -
Verilyn Fitzgerald
2011 52,995 - - - 50,941 - - 103,936 - 100.0% -
2010 81,550 - - - 7,340 - - 88,890 - 100.0% -
naseema sparks
2011 82,567 - - - 7,431 - - 89,998 - 100.0% -
2010 71,550 - - - 6,439 - - 77,989 - 100.0% -
Robert stovold
2011 87,682 - - - 7,891 - - 95,573 - 100.0% -
2010 76,550 - - - 6,889 - - 83,439 - 100.0% -
brent Wallace
2011 82,567 - - - 7,431 - - 89,998 - 100.0% -
2010 71,550 - - - 6,439 - - 77,989 - 100.0% -
total Remuneration
20115 423,153 - - - 95,530 - - 518,683 - 100.0% -
2010 400,913 - - - 47,103 - - 448,016 - 100.0% -

notes to this table are shown on page 44.

the following table discloses the remuneration of the key management personnel of Blackmores (excluding non-executive 
Directors disclosed in the previous table) for the financial year ended 30 June 2011.

ShORt-tERM EMpLOyMEnt BEnEfitS

pOSt- 
EMpLOyMEnt 

BEnEfitS

OthER 
LOng-tERM 

EMpLOyMEnt 
BEnEfitS

ShARE-BASEd 
pAyMEnt

sAlARy And 
Fees

$

sti And pRoFit 
shARe 1

$

non-Mone-
tARy 2

$
otheR 3

$

supeRAnnuA-
tion

$
otheR 4

$

shARes And 
Rights

$
totAl

$

% oF peRFoR-
MAnCe bAsed 

ReMuneRAtion
%

% oF non- 
peRFoRMAnCe 

bAsed ReMu-
neRAtion

% oF  
ReMuneRAtion 

Rights

executive directors
Marcus blackmore6

2011 345,257 256,968 - 29,700 42,896 6,429 - 681,250 37.7% 62.3% -
2010 354,578 365,413 2,927 24,391 48,968 5,938 - 802,215 45.6% 54.4% -
Christine holgate7

2011 603,059 281,980 - 49,313 15,199 2,785 520,612 1,472,948 49.6% 50.4% 24.4%
2010 597,290 364,222 - 46,331 14,461 1,164 383,919 1,407,387 41.7% 58.3% 15.8%

senior executives
kerry Cunningham8

2011 63,700 28,336 - 6,952 3,800 14,377 4,874 122,039 27.2% 72.8% 4.0%
2010 - - - - - - - - - - -
Richard henfrey
2011 282,775 139,319 9,438 26,197 24,249 1,334 56,278 539,590 36.2% 63.8% 10.4%
2010 240,923 181,887 18,546 21,955 20,961 398 32,755 517,425 41.5% 58.5% 6.3%
Chris last9

2011 299,250 126,431 - 21,893 23,799 399 28,162 499,934 30.9% 69.1% 5.6%
2010 47,967 30,787 - 4,332 3,705 - 6,783 93,574 40.2% 59.8% 7.2%

remuneratiOn repOrt
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ShORt-tERM EMpLOyMEnt BEnEfitS

pOSt- 
EMpLOyMEnt 

BEnEfitS

OthER 
LOng-tERM 

EMpLOyMEnt 
BEnEfitS

ShARE-BASEd 
pAyMEnt

sAlARy And 
Fees

$

sti And pRoFit 
shARe 1

$

non-Mone-
tARy 2

$
otheR 3

$

supeRAnnuA-
tion

$
otheR 4

$

shARes And 
Rights

$
totAl

$

% oF peRFoR-
MAnCe bAsed 

ReMuneRAtion
%

% oF non- 
peRFoRMAnCe 

bAsed ReMu-
neRAtion

% oF  
ReMuneRAtion 

Rights

senior executives (continued)
neal Mercado10

2011 17,483 5,918 - 3,209 1,267 2,234 1,339 31,450 23.1% 76.9% 4.3%
2010 - - - - - - - - - - -
peter osborne6

2011 258,714 190,253 - - - - 471 449,438 42.4% 57.6% 0.1%
2010 254,066 255,805 - 20,687 7,230 - 470 538,258 47.6% 52.4% 0.1%
gabriel perera10

2011 14,877 6,085 886 3,939 2,100 380 1,339 29,606 25.1% 74.9% 4.5%
2010 - - - - - - - - - - -
lee Richards
2011 254,934 128,572 27,351 16,731 15,199 9,551 52,772 505,110 35.9% 64.1% 10.4%
2010 195,289 155,746 16,785 26,360 14,461 11,944 41,588 462,173 42.7% 57.3% 9.0%

former kmp’s and senior executives disclosed under the corporations act 2001
peter barraket11

2011 512,017 16 ,410 - 18,087 15,199 20,159 - 581,872 2.8% 97.2% 0.0%
2010 276,385 186,642 - 22,727 14,461 5,348 52,638 558,201 42.9% 57.1% 9.4%
greg burgoyne12

2011 - - - - - - - - - - -
2010 225,421 11,654 - 17,274 13,278 - - 267,627 4.4% 95.6% 0.0%
liz burrows13

2011 16,775 10,974 118 19,600 54,003 5,562 11,186 118,218 18.7% 81.3% 9.5%
2010 179,790 150,747 - 20,477 46,516 9,977 41,950 449,457 42.9% 57.1% 9.3%
sue Moore11

2011 358,278 15,872 - 25,953 14,685 - - 414,788 3.8% 96.2% 0.0%
2010 261,485 178,559 - 32,938 14,461 410 33,898 521,751 40.7% 59.3% 6.5%
Rananda Rich14

2011 - - - - - - - - - - -
2010 20,951 7,506 - 2,509 2,249 92 691 33,998 24.1% 75.9% 2.0%
total Remuneration
2011 3,027,119 1,207,118 37,793 221,574 212,396 63,210 677,033 5,446,243 34.6% 65.4% 9.5%
2010 2,654,145 1,888,968 38,258 239,981 200,751 35,271 594,692 5,652,066 43.9% 56.1% 7.7%

1.   Amounts included in the ‘STI and Profit Share’ column include amounts paid by way of profit share in 17 December 2010 and 23 June 2011. The STI plan for the 2011 
financial year was approved by the People and Remuneration Committee on 16 August 2010. Awards will be paid following audit clearance of the Group’s financial year 
2011 results and Board approval.

2.   Non-monetary benefits include motor vehicle benefits.

3.   Amounts disclosed as other short-term employment benefits relate to provisions for annual leave.

4.   Other amounts shown under other long-term employment benefits relate to provisions for long service leave.

5.    the non-executive fees were increased effective 1 July 2010. the last increase was effective 1 July 2007.

6.   Marcus Blackmore’s and Peter Osborne’s FY10 and FY11 STI and Profit Share includes the cash equivalent of the share-based LTI scheme fully expensed in the  
year awarded.

7.   Christine holgate’s fy11 share-based payment ($520,612) represents the combination of (a) $160,939, being the fy11 portion of slti shares and (b) the fy11 portion  
of the fair value of rights granted in fy09, fy10 and fy11 ($359,673).

8.   kerry Cunningham was appointed as a senior executive 1 april 2011.

9.   Chris last joined 27 april 2010. fy11 salary and fees include a $30,000 one-off performance-based payment.

10.   neal mercado and gabriel perera were appointed as senior executives 1 June 2011.

11.   peter Barraket and sue moore resigned 8 april 2011. salary and fees include a $211,015 termination payment to p Barraket and $130,392 to s moore.

12.   greg Burgoyne joined 1 september 2009 and resigned 26 may 2010.

13.   liz Burrows’ amounts are for the period as senior executive to 8 november 2010 when she took a new role in the group.

14.   rananda rich amounts are for the period as acting senior executive 1 may 2009 to 3 september 2009 when she took a new role in the group. 
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Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance has not been included in the figures above since the amounts involved are not material 
and it is not possible to determine an appropriate allocation basis.

5.  share-Based payments
the table below outlines the rights and shares outstanding to senior executives at 30 June 2011. the fair value of awards is 
calculated in accordance with aasB 2 share-based payments.

nAME gRAnt vESting ExERCiSE

End Of 
hOLding 

LOCK

dAte note
nuMbeR oF 

Rights
FAiR VAlue 
peR Right 

totAl FAiR 
VAlue

shARe 
pRiCe

MAxiMuM 
VAlue 1 dAte

nuMbeR 
oF 

Rights 2

% oF 
nuMbeR 

gRAnted VAlue 3 dAte 2, 4

VAlue oF 
Rights not 

Vested 7 

executive director

Christine holgate 25/11/08 5 30,216 $11.81 $356,851 $13.90 $420,002 22/10/09 30,216 100.0% $631,514 09/2011

25/11/08 5 20,144 $10.42 $209,900 $13.90 $280,002 22/10/09 20,144 100.0% $421,010 09/2013

20/2/09 6 20,189 $10.12 $204,313 $12.00 $242,268 30/6/09 8,843 43.8% $168,990 30/6/11

9/12/09 6 33,081 $18.67 $617,622 $21.14 $699,332 30/6/10 31,030 94% $761,476 30/6/12

13/9/10 4 26,699 $22.32 $595,922 $25.53 $681,625 30/6/11 18,369 69% n/a 30/6/13 $222,411

senior executives

kerry Cunningham 13/9/10 4 1,140 $22.32 $25,445 $25.53 $29,104 30/6/11 655 57% n/a 30/6/13 $12,950

Richard henfrey 16/6/09 4 508 $16.63 $8,448 $16.66 $8,463 30/6/09 127 25% $2,427 30/6/11

9/12/09 4 6,294 $18.67 $117,509 $21.14 $133,055 30/6/10 5,149 82% $126,356 30/6/12

13/9/10 4 5,504 $22.32 $122,849 $25.53 $140,517 30/6/11 3,161 57% n/a 30/6/13 $62,558

Chris last 30/4/10 4 1,155 $21.53 $24,867 $23.66 $27,327 30/6/10 945 82% $23,190 30/6/12

13/9/10 4 5,002 $22.32 $111,645 $25.53 $127,701 30/6/11 2,873 57% n/a 30/6/13 $56,844

neal Mercado 13/9/10 4 313 $22.32 $6,986 $25.53 $7,991 30/6/11 180 58% n/a 30/6/13 $3,551

peter osborne 16/6/09 4 339 $16.63 $5,638 $16.66 $5,648 30/6/09 85 25% $1,624 30/6/11

gabriel perera 13/9/10 4 313 $22.32 $6,986 $25.53 $7,991 30/6/11 180 58% n/a 30/6/13 $3,551

lee Richards 11/9/08 4 2,417 $17.51 $42,322 $18.20 $43,989 30/6/09 605 25% $11,562 30/6/11

9/12/09 4 5,405 $18.67 $100,911 $21.14 $114,262 30/6/10 4,422 82% $108,516 30/6/12

13/9/10 4 5,083 $22.32 $113,453 $25.53 $129,769 30/6/11 2,919 57% n/a 30/6/13 $57,779

former senior executives

peter barraket 11/9/08 4 3,176 $17.51 $55,612 $18.20 $57,803 30/6/09 794 25% $15,173 n/a $23,820

9/12/09 4 6,718 $18.67 $125,425 $21.14 $142,019 30/6/10 5,496 82% $134,872 n/a $164,880

13/9/10 4 5,421 $22.32 $120,997 $25.53 $138,398 n/a n/a 0% n/a n/a $162,630

liz burrows 11/9/08 4 2,496 $17.51 $43,705 $18.20 $45,427 30/6/09 624 25% $11,925 30/6/11

9/12/09 4 5,408 $18.67 $100,967 $21.14 $114,325 30/6/10 4,422 82% $108,516 30/6/12

sue Moore 16/6/09 4 565 $16.63 $9,396 $16.66 $9,413 30/6/09 141 25% $2,695 30/6/11 $4,230

9/12/09 4 6,502 $18.67 $121,392 $21.14 $137,452 30/6/10 5,320 82% $130,553 n/a $159,600

13/9/10 4 5,252 $22.32 $117,225 $25.53 $134,084 n/a n/a 0% n/a n/a $157,560

1.   disclosure of maximum value is required under s300a of the Corporations act 2001. the value disclosed represents the underlying value of shares at the time of grant 
multiplied by the number of rights granted to each individual. the minimum value of rights awarded is zero if performance conditions are not achieved.

2.   the number of rights vested is equal to the number of rights exercised and the number of shares issued; vesting occurs on 30 June and shares are issued in september 
following audit clearance of the group’s results and Board approval.

3.   value of rights at exercise is equal to the number of rights exercised multiplied by the share price at exercise date.

4.   shares are subject to a two year holding lock. if the senior executive resigns or their employment is terminated prior to the end of the holding lock (except for reasons 
such as death, serious injury, disability, illness or involuntary early retirement), these shares will be forfeited.

5.   shares were issued to the CeO under the terms of the employment contract agreed with Christine holgate and approved by shareholders at the 2009 annual 
general meeting and are subject to a service condition enforced by holding locks.

6.   shares are subject to a two year holding lock. if the CeO resigns or if employment ceases for reasons such as serious misconduct, then the deferred shares are forfeited.

7.   not vested in the current year only.
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6. emplOyment COntraCts
the following executive directors and senior executives have 
employment contracts:

kerry Cunningham, richard henfrey, Christine holgate,  
Chris last, neal mercado, peter Osborne, gabriel perera and 
Lee Richards. No contract is for a fixed term.

6.1 termination
executive director and senior executives’ contracts can be 
terminated by Blackmores or the senior executive providing 
notice periods as shown in the following table.

nAMe

yeARs oF 
Continuous 
seRViCe

notiCe peRiod pRoVided 
by blACkMoRes oR 
senioR exeCutiVe

Christine holgate n/a six months

senior executives n/a three months

in the event of termination by the Company, Christine 
holgate is also entitled to an additional cash payment, its value 
dependent on predefined termination dates. Amounts payable 
range from a minimum of $nil to a maximum of $420,000. in 
the event of voluntary resignation she will not be entitled to the 
above payment.

where termination is due to redundancy, Blackmores must 
pay a severance payment according to years of service as 
shown in the table below.

nAMe

yeARs oF 
Continuous 
seRViCe

notiCe peRiod pRoVided 
by blACkMoRes oR 
senioR exeCutiVe

Christine holgate n/a six months pay

senior executives up to one 
year

two weeks pay

Between 
one and  
10 years

two weeks pay plus an 
additional three weeks 
pay for each completed 
year of service

10 years  
or more

29 weeks pay plus an 
additional three weeks 
pay for each completed 
year of service 
following 10 years 
capped at a maximum 
of 52 weeks pay

for the purposes of calculating Christine holgate’s payment, 
a month of pay is based on her total remuneration package at 
the time, being base salary, superannuation contributions and 
other benefits as agreed from time to time.

for the purposes of calculating the amount payable for all other 
senior executives, one week of pay is the average amount 
received by the individual as wages or salary over the four weeks 
of employment immediately preceding termination of employment.

7.  nOn-exeCutive direCtOrs’ 
remuneratiOn

Compensation arrangements for non-executive directors 
are determined by Blackmores after reviewing published 
remuneration surveys and market information. non-executive 
Directors receive fixed annual fees comprising a Board fee, 
Committee fee and Committee Chair fee as applicable. 
retirement allowances were accrued until 1 October 2003 
for non-executive directors appointed prior to this date. 
no further retirement allowances have accrued to these 
individuals. non-executive directors appointed after 1 
October 2003 do not receive a retirement allowance.

Directors’ Fees paid in respect to the financial year 2011 are 
as follows:
•   the base fee for each Director is $73,205 per annum;
•   additional fee of $7,500 applies for each Committee 

membership;
•   additional fee of $5,000 applies if appointed Chairman of 

the Committee;

directors’ fees have been increased in accordance with Cpi 
effective 1 July 2011 as follows:
•   the base fee for each Director is $75,401 per annum;
•   additional fee of $7,725 applies for each Committee 

membership;
•   additional fee of $5,150 applies if appointed Chairman of 

the Committee;

a non-executive director, who is also deputy Chairman, 
receives 150% of the relevant base fee.

for directors appointed prior to 1 October 2003, a 
retirement allowance applies of $15,333 per annum, which 
accrues each year but is capped after nine years of service at 
$138,000.

shareholders at a meeting held on 21 October 2010 
determined the maximum total non-executive directors’ fees 
payable to be $700,000 per year, to be distributed as the 
Board determines.

information about amounts paid to individual directors is 
provided in section 4 of this remuneration report.

signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made 
pursuant to s298(2) of the Corporations act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

Marcus C Blackmore
diReCtoR

dated in sydney, 18 august 2011
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Auditor’s independence declArAtion

The Board of Directors 
Blackmores Limited 
20 Jubilee Avenue 
WARRIEWOOD NSW 2102

18 August 2011

Dear Board Members

Blackmores Limited

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following declaration 
of independence to the directors of Blackmores Limited.

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Blackmores Limited for the financial year ended 
30 June 2011, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

 (i)  the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 
 (ii)  any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.  

Yours sincerely

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

P G Forrester 
Partner  
Chartered Accountants

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060

The Barrington 
Level 10 
10 Smith Street 
Parramatta NSW 2150 
PO Box 38 
Parramatta NSW 2124 Australia

DX 28485 
Tel: +61 (0) 2 9840 7000 
Fax: +61 (0) 2 9840 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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independent Auditor’s report

Independent Auditor’s Report to the  
Members of Blackmores Limited

Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Blackmores Limited, which comprises the statement 
of financial position as at 30 June 2011, the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the 
statement of cash flows and the statement of changes in equity for the year ended on that date, notes comprising 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration 
of the consolidated entity, comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to 
time during the financial year as set out on pages 50 to 101.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 3, the directors also state, in accordance with 
Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the consolidated financial statements 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control, relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial report 
that gives a true and fair view, in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060

The Barrington 
Level 10 
10 Smith Street 
Parramatta NSW 2150 
PO Box 38 
Parramatta NSW 2124 Australia

DX 28485 
Tel: +61 (0) 2 9840 7000 
Fax: +61 (0) 2 9840 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to 
the directors of Blackmores Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this 
auditor’s report. 

Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of Blackmores Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

  (i)  giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2011 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and

 (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b)  the consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
disclosed in Note 3.

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included on pages 38 to 46 of the directors’ report for the year 
ended 30 June 2011. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Blackmores Limited for the year ended 30 June 2011, complies with 
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

P G Forrester 
Partner  
Chartered Accountants

Parramatta, 18 August 2011

independent auditOr’s repOrt
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the directors declare that:

(a)   in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable;

(b)   in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements are in compliance with international financial reporting standards, 
as stated in note 3 to the financial statements;

(c)   in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations act 
2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance 
of the group; and

(d)   the directors have been given the declarations required by s.295a of the Corporations act 2001.

signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

 

MARCus C blACkMoRe AM
director

dated in sydney, 18 august 2011

direCtOrs’ deClaratiOn
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notes
2011

 $’000 
2010

 $’000 

sales 5  234,423  214,934 

royalties 5  844  873 

Other income 6  1,325  1,286 

Revenue and other income  236,592  217,093 

promotional and other rebates  22,907  19,054 

Changes in inventories of finished goods  2,047  5,194 

raw materials and consumables used  69,920  65,748 

Employee benefits expense  52,730  48,179 

depreciation and amortisation expense  4,529  4,141 

selling and marketing expenses  22,102  19,134 

Operating lease rental expenses  1,391  1,034 

professional and consulting expenses  3,303  2,198 

repairs and maintenance expenses  2,375  1,992 

freight expenses  3,278  3,006 

Bank charges  1,146  881 

Other expenses  9,331  9,786 

total expenses  195,059  180,347 

earnings before interest and tax  41,533  36,746 

interest revenue  161  427 

interest expense  (2,372)  (2,442)

net interest expense  (2,211)  (2,015)

Profit before tax 7  39,322  34,731 

income tax expense 8  (12,017)  (10,434)

Profit for the year  27,305  24,297 

EARningS pER ShARE
– Basic earnings per share (cents) 25  163.2  146.8 

– diluted earnings per share (cents) 25  162.9  146.4

notes to the consolidated financial statements are included on pages 56 to 101.   

COnsOlidated inCOme statement
fOr the finanCial year ended 30 June 2011
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notes
2011

 $’000 
2010

 $’000 

Profit for the year  27,305  24,297 

Other comprehensive income
Gain recognised on cash flow hedges  209  533 

exchange differences arising on translating the foreign controlled entities 23.3  (2,161)  341 

income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income  (63)  (160)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax  (2,015)  714 

total comprehensive income for the year  25,290  25,011

notes to the consolidated financial statements are included on pages 56 to 101.   

COnsOlidated statement Of COmprehensive inCOme
fOr the finanCial year ended 30 June 2011
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notes
2011

 $’000 
2010

 $’000 

ASSEtS:

CuRRent Assets

Cash and bank balances 33.1  10,168  21,507 

receivables 12  43,030  33,994 

inventories 13  23,749  22,555 

Other  1,574  2,429 

total current assets  78,521  80,485 

non-CuRRent Assets

receivables 12  2,500  2,500 

property, plant and equipment 14  64,926  66,148 

investment property 15  2,160  2,160 

Other intangible assets 16  2,012  716 

goodwill 36  657  -

deferred tax assets 8.2  2,335  2,326 

Other  19  14 

total non-current assets  74,609  73,864 

total assets  153,130  154,349 

LiABiLitiES:

CuRRent liAbilities

trade and other payables 17  25,843  26,575 

Current tax liabilities 20  3,570  3,992 

Other financial liabilities 18  155  660 

provisions 21  3,653  3,230 

total current liabilities  33,221  34,457 

non-CuRRent liAbilities

Borrowings 19  40,000  47,356 

deferred tax liabilities 8.2  5  5 

provisions 21  792  741 

total non-current liabilities  40,797  48,102 

total liabilities  74,018  82,559 

net assets  79,112  71,790 

Equity:

CApitAl And ReseRVes

issued capital 22  25,348  25,348 

reserves 23  1,594  2,470 

retained earnings 24  52,170  43,972 

total equity  79,112  71,790 

notes to the consolidated financial statements are included on pages 56 to 101.

COnsOlidated statement Of finanCial pOsitiOn
as at 30 June 2011
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issued 
CApitAl

$’000

eQuity-
settled 

eMployee 
beneFits 
ReseRVe

$’000

hedge 
ReseRVe

$’000

FoReign 
CuRRenCy 

tRAnslAtion 
ReseRVe

$’000

RetAined 
eARnings

$’000
totAl
$’000

Balance as at 30 June 2009  21,680  2,786  (676)  (1,234)  36,007  58,563 

dividends declared  -   -   -   -   (16,332)  (16,332)

Profit for the year  -   -   -   -   24,297  24,297 

Other comprehensive income  
for the year, net of income tax  -   -   373  341  -   714 

total comprehensive income  
for the year  -   -   373  341  24,297  25,011 

issue of shares under  
dividend reinvestment plan  3,668  -   -   -   -   3,668 

recognition of share-based 
payments  -   880  -   -   -   880 

balance as at 30 June 2010  25,348  3,666  (303)  (893)  43,972  71,790 

dividends declared  -   -   -   -   (19,107)  (19,107)

Profit for the year  -   -   -   -   27,305  27,305 
Other comprehensive income  
for the year, net of income tax  -   -   146  (2,161)  -   (2,015)

total comprehensive income  
for the year  -   -   146  (2,161)  27,305  25,290 

recognition of share-based 
payments  -   1,139  -   -   -   1,139 

balance as at 30 June 2011  25,348  4,805  (157)  (3,054)  52,170  79,112

notes to the consolidated financial statements are included on pages 56 to 101.      

COnsOlidated statement Of Changes in eQuity
fOr the finanCial year ended 30 June 2011
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notes
2011

 $’000 
2010

 $’000 

CASh fLOWS fROM OpERAting ACtivitiES
receipts from customers  247,828  237,522 

payments to suppliers and employees (211,311)  (200,399)

Cash generated from operations 36,517 37,123

Interest and other costs of finance paid (2,372)  (1,942)

income taxes paid (12,510)  (9,307)

net cash generated by operating activities 33.3  21,635  25,874 

CASh fLOWS fROM invESting ACtivitiES
interest received  161  427 

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiary 36.5  (1,968)  -  

payment for property, plant and equipment (3,396)  (3,742)

payment for investment property  -   (2,160)

proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  16  -  

net cash used in investing activities (5,187)  (5,475)

CASh fLOWS fROM finAnCing ACtivitiES
repayment of borrowings  (7,356)  -  

dividends paid (19,107)  (12,664)

Other (135)  -  

Net cash used in financing activities (26,598)  (12,664)

net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (10,150)  7,735 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 21,507  13,716 

effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies  (1,189)  56 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 33.1 10,168  21,507

notes to the consolidated financial statements are included on pages 56 to 101.

COnsOlidated statement Of Cash flOws
fOr the finanCial year ended 30 June 2011
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1. general infOrmatiOn
Blackmores limited (‘the Company’) is a public company listed on the australian securities exchange (trading under the symbol 
‘Bkl’), incorporated in australia and operating in australia, asia and new Zealand.

Blackmores Limited’s registered office and its principal place of business are as follows:

20 Jubilee avenue 
warriewood nsw 2102 
telephone +61 2 9910 5000

the group’s principal activity is the development and marketing of health products including vitamins, herbal, mineral and 
nutritional supplements.

2.  appliCatiOn Of new and revised aCCOunting standards
2.1  standards and interpretations affecting amounts reported 

in thE CuRREnt yEAR (And/OR pRiOR yEARS)
the following new and revised standards and interpretations have been adopted in the current year and have affected the amounts 
reported in these financial statements. details of other standards and interpretations adopted in these financial statements but 
that have had no effect on the amounts reported are set out in section 2.2.

stAndARds AFFeCting pResentAtion And disClosuRe

stAndARd / inteRpRetAtion nAtuRe oF ChAnge ReQuiRed

•    Amendments to AASB 7 ‘Financial 
instruments: disclosure’ (adopted in 
advance of effective date of 1 January 
2011)

the amendments (part of aasB 2010-4 ‘further amendments to australian 
accounting standards arising from the annual improvements project’) clarify the 
required level of disclosures about credit risk and collateral held and provide relief 
from disclosures previously required regarding renegotiated loans.

•  Amendments to AASB 101 
‘presentation of financial statements’ 
(adopted in advance of effective date 
of 1 January 2011)

the amendments (part of aasB 2010-4 ‘further amendments to australian 
accounting standards arising from the annual improvements project’) clarify that an 
entity may choose to present the required analysis of items of other comprehensive 
income either in the statement of Changes in equity or in the notes to the financial 
statements.

•  Amendments to AASB 107 
‘statement of Cash flows’

the amendments (part of aasB 2009-5 ‘further amendments to australian 
accounting standards arising from the annual improvements project’) specify that 
only expenditures that result in a recognised asset in the statement of financial 
Position can be classified as investing activities in the Statement of Cash Flows. 
Consequently, cash flows in respect of development costs that do not meet the 
criteria in aasB 138 ‘intangible assets’ for capitalisation as part of an internally 
generated intangible asset (and, therefore, are recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred) have been reclassified from investing to operating activities in the 
statement of Cash flows.

stAndARds And inteRpRetAtions AFFeCting the RepoRted Results oR FinAnCiAl position
there are no new and revised standards and interpretations adopted in these financial statements affecting the reporting results 
or financial position.

2.2  standards and interpretations adopted with no effect on the financial statements
the following new and revised standards and interpretations have also been adopted in these financial statements. their adoption 
has not had any significant impact on the amounts reported in these Financial Statements but may affect the accounting for future 
transactions or arrangements.

stAndARd / inteRpRetAtion nAtuRe oF ChAnge ReQuiRed

•  AASB 2009-5 ‘Further 
amendments to australian 
accounting standards arising from 
the annual improvements project’

except for the amendments to aasB 107 described earlier in this section the 
application of aasB 2009-5 has not had any material effect on amounts reported in 
the financial statements.
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stAndARd / inteRpRetAtion nAtuRe oF ChAnge ReQuiRed

•  AASB 2009-8 ‘Amendments to 
australian accounting standards – 
group Cash-settled share-based 
payment transactions’

the application of aasB 2009-8 makes amendments to aasB 2 ‘share-based 
payment’ to clarify the scope of aasB 2, as well as the accounting for group cash-
settled share-based payment transactions in the separate (or individual) financial 
statements of an entity receiving the goods or services when another group entity or 
shareholder has the obligation to settle the award.

•  AASB 2009-10 ‘Amendments to 
australian accounting standards – 
Classification of Rights Issues’

the application of aasB 2009-10 makes amendments to aasB 132 ‘financial 
Instruments: Presentation’ to address the classification of certain rights issues 
denominated in a foreign currency as either an equity instrument or as a financial 
liability. to date, the group has not entered into any arrangements that would fall 
within the scope of the amendments.

•  AASB 2010-3 ‘Amendments 
to australian accounting 
standards arising from the annual 
improvements project’

the application of aasB 2010-3 makes amendments to aasB 3(2008) ‘Business 
Combinations’ to clarify that the measurement choice regarding non-controlling 
interests at the date of acquisition is only available in respect of non-controlling 
interests that are present ownership interests and that entitle their holders to a 
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation. all other 
types of non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition-date fair value, 
unless another measurement basis is required by other standards. in addition, 
the application of aasB 2010-3 makes amendments to aasB 3(2008) to give 
more guidance regarding the accounting for share-based payment awards held by 
the acquiree’s employees. Specifically, the amendments specify that share-based 
payment transactions of the acquiree that are not replaced should be measured in 
accordance with aasB 2 ‘share-based payment’ at the acquisition date (‘market-
based measure’).

•  AASB 2010-4 ‘Further Amendments 
to australian accounting 
standards arising from the annual 
improvements project’

except for the amendments to aasB 7 and aasB 101 described earlier in this 
section, the application of aasB 2010-4 has not had any material effect on amounts 
reported in the financial statements.

•  Interpretation 19 ‘Extinguishing 
financial liabilities with equity 
instruments’

this interpretation provides guidance regarding the accounting for the 
extinguishment of a financial liability by the issue of equity instruments. In particular, 
the equity instruments issued under such arrangements will be measured at their 
fair value, and any difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
extinguished and the fair value of equity instruments issued will be recognised in 
profit or loss. To date, the Group has not entered into transactions of this nature.

2.3 standards and interpretations in issue not yet adopted
at the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following standards and interpretations were in issue but not yet effective.

stAndARd / inteRpRetAtion

eFFeCtiVe FoR 
AnnuAl RepoRting 
peRiods beginning 

on oR AFteR

expeCted to be 
initiAlly Applied in 

the FinAnCiAl yeAR 
ending

 •  AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ (revised December 2009), AASB 2009-
12 ‘amendments to australian accounting standards’ 1 January 2011 30 June 2012

•   AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, AASB 2009- 11 ‘Amendments to Australian 
accounting standards arising from aasB 9’ and aasB 2010-7 ‘amendments to 
australian accounting standards arising from aasB 9 (december 2010)’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

•   AASB 2009-14 ‘Amendments to Australian Interpretation – Prepayments of a 
minimum funding requirement’ 1 January 2011 30 June 2012

•   AASB 2010-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ 1 January 2011 30 June 2012

•   AASB 2010-6 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures 
on transfers of financial assets’ 1 July 2011 30 June 2012

•   AASB 2010-8 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred 
tax: recovery of underlying assets’ 1 January 2012 30 June 2013
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3.  signifiCant aCCOunting pOliCies
3.1 statement of compliance
these financial statements are general purpose financial 
statements which have been prepared in accordance with 
the Corporations act 2001, accounting standards and 
interpretations and comply with other requirements of the law. 

the financial statements comprise the consolidated financial 
statements of the group.

accounting standards include australian accounting 
standards. Compliance with australian accounting standards 
ensures that the financial statements and notes of the 
Company and the group comply with international financial 
reporting standards (‘ifrs’).

the financial statements were authorised for issue by the 
directors on 18 august 2011.

3.2 basis of preparation
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on the basis of historical cost, except for certain non-current 
assets and financial instruments that are measured at revalued 
amounts or fair values, as explained in the accounting policies 
below. historical cost is generally based on the fair values of 
the consideration given in exchange for assets. all amounts 
are presented in australian dollars, unless otherwise noted.

the Company is a company of the kind referred to in asiC Class 
Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that 
Class Order amounts in the financial statements are rounded off 
to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

3.2.1  eARly Adoption oF ACCounting stAndARds
the directors have elected under s334 (5) of the 
Corporations act 2001 to apply amendments to aasB 
7 ‘financial instruments: disclosure’ and amendments to 
aasB 101 ‘presentation of financial statements’ in advance 
of their effective dates. the standards are not required to be 
applied until annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2011. the impact of the adoption of these standards is 
disclosed in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following significant accounting policies have been 
adopted in the preparation and presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

3.3 basis of consolidation
the consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled 
by the Company (its subsidiaries) referred to as ‘the group’ 
in the consolidated financial statements. Control is achieved 
where the Company has the power to govern the financial  
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from 
its activities. 

income and expense of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 
Comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition 
and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. total 
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the 
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests 
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 
deficit balance. 

where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
into line with those used by other members of the group.

all intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses 
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

3.4 cash and cash eQuivalents 
Cash is comprised of cash on hand and cash at bank. Cash 
equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and have a 
maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.

3.5 financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a 
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured 
at fair value. transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial 
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted 
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, 
as appropriate, on initial recognition. transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

3.5.1 FinAnCiAl Assets
Financial assets are classified into the following specified 
categories: financial assets at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ 
(FVTPL), ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans 
and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and 
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time 
of initial recognition. all regular way purchases or sales of 
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade 
date basis. regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within 
the time frame established by regulation or convention in  
the marketplace.
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3.5.1.1 effective interest method
the effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. the effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
debt instrument, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to 
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt 
instruments other than those financial assets classified as  
at fvtpl.

3.5.1.2 financial assets at fvtpl 
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial 
asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at fvtpl.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
•  it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it 

in the near term; or
•  on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified 

financial instruments that the Group manages together and 
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•  it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a 
hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading 
may be designated as at fvtpl upon initial recognition if:
•  such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a 

measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
otherwise arise; or

•  the financial asset forms part of a group of financial 
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed 
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, 
in accordance with the group’s documented risk 
management or investment strategy, and information 
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

•  it forms part of a contract containing one or more 
embedded derivatives, and aasB 139 ‘financial 
instruments: recognition and measurement’ permits 
the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be 
designated as at fvtpl.

financial assets at fvtpl are stated at fair value, with any 
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in 
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss 
incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial 
asset and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item 
in the statement of comprehensive income. fair value is 
determined in the manner described in note 34.

3.5.1.3 afs financial assets
the fair value of afs monetary assets denominated in a 
foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and 
translated at the spot rate at the end of the reporting period. 

the foreign exchange gains and losses that are recognised in 
profit or loss are determined based on the amortised cost of 
the monetary asset. Other foreign exchange gains and losses 
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

3.5.1.4 loans and receivables 
trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans 
and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method less impairment. interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for 
short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would 
be immaterial.

3.5.1.5 impairment of financial assets
financial assets, other than those at fvtpl, are assessed for 
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
financial assets are considered to be impaired when there 
is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events 
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, 
the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been 
affected.

for afs equity instruments, including listed or unlisted shares, 
objective evidence of impairment includes information 
about significant changes with an adverse effect that have 
taken place in the technological, market, economic or legal 
environment in which the issuer operates, and indicate that 
the cost of the investment in the equity instrument may not be 
recovered. A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value 
of the security below its cost is considered to be objective 
evidence of impairment for unlisted shares classified as 
available-for-sale.

For all other financial assets, including redeemable notes 
classified as available-for-sale and finance lease receivables, 
objective evidence of impairment could include:
•  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; 

or
•  breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in 

interest or principal payments; or
•  it becoming probable that the borrower will enter 

bankruptcy or financial reorganisation; or
•  the disappearance of an active market for that financial 

asset because of financial difficulties.
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3.   signifiCant aCCOunting 
pOliCies (COntinued)

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade 
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired 
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on 
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for 
a portfolio of receivables could include the group’s past 
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number 
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit 
period of 30 days, as well as observable changes in national 
or local economic conditions that correlate with default on 
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of 
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the 
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of 
return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not 
be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by 
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount 
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. when 
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written 
off against the allowance account. subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are credited against the 
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the 
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, 
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in  
the reporting period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a 
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through 
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the 
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not 
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised.

in respect of afs equity securities, impairment losses previously 
recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or 
loss. any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss 
is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. in respect 
of afs debt securities, impairment losses are subsequently 
reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of 
the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring 
after the recognition of the impairment loss.

3.5.1.6 derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. if 
the group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the group recognises its retained interest in 
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to 
pay. if the group retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group 
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises 
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of 
the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative 
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

3.5.2  FinAnCiAl liAbilities And eQuity instRuMents

3.5.2.1 Classification as Debt or Equity 
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or 
as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement. 

3.5.2.2 equity instruments
an equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. equity instruments issued by the group are recorded 
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

3.5.2.3 financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at 
FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’.

3.5.2.4 financial liabilities at fvtpl
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial 
liability is either held for trading or it is designated as at fvtpl. 

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
•  it has been acquired principally for the purpose of 

repurchasing it in the near term; or 
•  on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified 

financial instruments that the Group manages together 
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; 
or

•  it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a 
hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading 
may be designated as at fvtpl upon initial recognition if:
•  such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a 

measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
otherwise arise; or

•  the financial liability forms part of a group of financial 
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed 
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, 
in accordance with the group’s documented risk 
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management or investment strategy, and information 
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

•  it forms part of a contract containing one or more 
embedded derivatives, and aasB 139 ‘financial 
instruments: recognition and measurement’ permits 
the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be 
designated as at fvtpl.

financial liabilities at fvtpl are stated at fair value, with 
any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in 
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss 
incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is 
included in the ‘other income’ line item in the consolidated 
income statement. fair value is determined in the manner 
described in note 34.

3.5.2.5 Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially 
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, with 
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

the effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. the effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition.

3.5.2.6 derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only 
when, the group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
they expire. the difference between the carrying amount of 
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid 
and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 

3.5.2.7 transaction Costs on the issue of equity instruments 
transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are 
recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the proceeds of 
the equity instruments to which the costs relate. transaction 
costs are the costs that are incurred directly in connection with 
the issue of those equity instruments and which would not have 
been incurred had those instruments not been issued.

3.5.2.8 dividends
Dividends are classified as distributions of profit.

3.5.3 deRiVAtiVe FinAnCiAl instRuMents
The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial 
instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and 
foreign exchange rate risk, including forward foreign 
exchange contracts and interest rate swaps. further details of 
derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 34 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. the 

resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately 
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging 
instrument, in which event, the timing of the recognition in 
profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. 

3.5.3.1 hedge accounting
the group designates certain hedging instruments, which 
include derivatives and non-derivatives in respect of foreign 
currency risk, as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges or 
hedges of net investments in foreign operations. hedges of 
foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for 
as cash flow hedges.

at the inception of the hedge relationship the entity 
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument 
and the hedged item, along with its risk management 
objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge 
transactions. furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and 
on an ongoing basis, the group documents whether the 
hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is 
highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows 
of the hedged item.

note 34 sets out details of the fair values of the derivative 
instruments used for hedging purposes. movements in the 
hedge reserve in equity are also detailed in the consolidated 
statement of Changes in equity.

3.5.3.2 fair value hedges
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated 
and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in profit or loss 
immediately, together with any changes in the fair value of the 
hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged 
risk. the change in the fair value of the hedging instrument 
and the change in the hedged item attributable to the hedged 
risk are recognised in the line of the consolidated income 
statement relating to the hedged item.

hedge accounting is discontinued when the group revokes 
the hedging relationship, when the hedging instrument expires 
or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for 
hedge accounting. the adjustment to the carrying amount of 
the hedged item arising from the hedged risk is amortised to 
profit or loss from that date.

3.5.3.3 Cash flow hedges 
the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives 
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
under the heading of cash flow hedging reserve. The gain or loss 
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss, and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line 
item. amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or 
loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit 
or loss, in the same line of the consolidated income statement as 
the recognised hedged item. 
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however, when the hedged forecast transaction that is hedged 
results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-
financial liability, the gains and losses previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are 
transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement 
of the cost of the non-financial asset or non-financial liability.

hedge accounting is discontinued when the group revokes 
the hedging relationship, when the hedging instrument expires 
or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer 
qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss recognised 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at 
that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast 
transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a 
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or 
loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.

3.5.3.4 hedges of net investments in foreign Operations
hedges of net investments in foreign operations are 
accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss 
on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of 
the hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated under the heading of foreign currency translation 
reserve. the gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the 
other income line item.

gains and losses on the hedging instrument relating to the 
effective portion of the hedge accumulated in the foreign 
currency translation reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on 
the disposal of the foreign operation.

3.5.3.5 derivatives that do not Qualify for hedge accounting
Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge 
accounting. Changes in the fair value of any derivative 
instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.6 inventories
inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of fixed and 
variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventory on 
hand by the method most appropriate to each particular class 
of inventory, with the majority being valued on a first-in-
first-out basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated 
selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs 
necessary to make the sale. 

3.7 property, plant and eQuipment
property, and associated land, in the course of construction for 
production or administrative purposes, is carried at cost, less 
any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional 
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in 
accordance with the group’s accounting policy. depreciation 
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, 
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

plant and equipment and leasehold improvements are 
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment. Construction in progress is stated at cost. 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition or construction of the item.

depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, 
including freehold buildings but excluding land. depreciation 
is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net 
cost of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated 
residual value. leasehold improvements are depreciated over 
the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the 
shorter, using the straight-line method. the estimated useful 
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at 
the end of each financial year, with the effect of any changes 
recognised on a prospective basis. 

an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. any 
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

freehold land is not depreciated. the following estimated 
useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:
•  Buildings  25 - 40 years
•  Leasehold improvements 3 - 13 years
•  Plant and equipment 3 - 20 years

3.8  impairment of tangible and intangible 
ASSEtS OthER thAn gOOdWiLL

at the end of each reporting period, the group reviews 
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets 
have suffered an impairment loss. if any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in 
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 
where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount 
of an individual asset, the group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can 
be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual 
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the 
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable 
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use. in assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which 
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

if the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) 
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to 
its recoverable amount. an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss unless the relevant asset is carried 
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at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation decrease. 

where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that 
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) 
in prior years. a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is 
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

3.9 borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get 
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost 
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale.

investment income earned on the temporary investment of 
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets 
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they are incurred.

3.10 leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms 
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as 
operating leases. 

3.10.1 the gRoup As lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in 
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised 
as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

3.11 provisions
provisions are recognised when the group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that the group will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation.

the amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of 
the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the 
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. where a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle 
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of 
money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle 
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, 
the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain 
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably. 

3.11.1 oneRous ContRACts
present obligations arising under onerous contracts are 
recognised and measured as provisions. an onerous contract 
is considered to exist where the group has a contract under 
which the unavoidable cost of meeting the obligations under 
the contract exceed the economic benefits estimated to be 
received from the contract. 

3.12 employee benefits
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in 
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service 
leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and 
they are capable of being measured reliably.

liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee 
benefits are measured at their nominal values using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

liabilities recognised in respect of long-term employee 
benefits are measured as the present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows to be made by the Group in respect of 
services provided by employees up to reporting date.

3.12.1 deFined ContRibution plAns
Contributions to defined contribution retirement benefit plans 
are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered 
service entitling them to the contributions.

3.13 revenue recognition
revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable. revenue is reduced for estimated 
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

3.13.1 sAle oF goods
revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the 
following conditions are satisfied:
•  the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks 

and rewards of ownership of the goods;
•  the Group retains neither continuing managerial 

involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

•  the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably;
•  it is probable that the economic benefits associated with 

the transaction will flow to the Group; and
•  the costs incurred or expected to be incurred in respect of 

the transaction can be measured reliably.

Specifically, revenue from the sale of goods is recognised 
when goods are delivered and legal title is passed.
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3.13.2 RoyAlties
royalty revenue is recognised on an accrual basis in 
accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement 
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits 
will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be 
measured reliably).

3.13.3 diVidend And inteRest ReVenue
dividend revenue from investments is recognised when 
the group’s right to receive payment has been established 
(provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the Group and the amount of income can be  
measured reliably).

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it 
is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. interest 
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal 
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s 
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

3.14 foreign currencies
3.14.1 indiViduAl ContRolled entities
the individual financial statements of each controlled entity are 
presented in the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the entity operates (its functional currency). for the 
purpose of the consolidated Financial Statements, the financial 
results and financial position of each entity are expressed in 
australian dollars (‘$’), which is the functional currency of 
Blackmores limited and the presentation currency for the 
consolidated financial statements.

3.14.2 FoReign CuRRenCy tRAnsACtions
in preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, 
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional 
currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of 
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. at the 
end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated 
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing 
at that date. non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. 
non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they arise, except for:
•  exchange differences which relate to assets under 

construction for future productive use, which are included 
in the cost of those assets where they are regarded as 
an adjustment to interest costs on foreign currency 
borrowings; and

•  exchange differences on transactions entered into in order 
to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

•  exchange differences on monetary items receivable from 
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is 
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part 
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are 
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and 
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of 
the monetary items.

3.14.3 FoReign opeRAtions
for the purpose of presenting consolidated financial 
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group’s foreign 
operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing at 
the end of the reporting period. income and expense items 
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, 
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly, in which case 
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. 
exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (attributed 
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

3.15 share-based payments
equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others 
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the 
equity instrument at the grant date. fair value is measured by 
use of a binomial model. the expected life used in the model 
has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, 
for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and 
behavioural considerations. 

the fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting and holding lock periods, based on the 
group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest 
with a corresponding increase in equity. at the end of each 
reporting period, the group revises its estimate of the number 
of equity instruments expected to vest. the impact of the 
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit 
or loss over the remaining vesting period, with corresponding 
adjustment to the equity-settled employee benefits reserve.

for cash-settled share-based payments, a liability is 
recognised for the goods or services acquired, measured 
initially at the fair value of the liability. at the end of each 
reporting period until the liability is settled, and at the date of 
settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with any 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss for the year.

3.16 goods and service tax
revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (gst), except:
•  where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from 

the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

•  for receivables and payables which are recognised 
inclusive of gst.

the net amount of gst recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables.
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Cash flows are included in the consolidated Statement of 
Cash flows on a gross basis. the gst component of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities which 
is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 
classified within operating cash flows.

3.17 taxation
income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently 
payable and the movement in deferred tax.

3.17.1 CuRRent tAx
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the 
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 
consolidated income statement because of items of income or 
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items 
that are never taxable or deductible. the group’s liability for 
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

3.17.2 deFeRRed tAx
deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax 
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences.

deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised. such deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other 
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities 
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit. 

deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
associates and interests in joint ventures, except where 
the group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. deferred tax assets 
arising from deductible temporary differences associated 
with such investments and interests are only recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient 
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the 
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is 
settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period. the measurement of deferred tax 

liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the group expects, at the 
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority and the group intends to 
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

3.17.3 CuRRent And deFeRRed tAx FoR the yeAR
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, 
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case 
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 
where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial 
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is 
included in the accounting for the business combination.

3.18 investment property
investment property, which is property held to earn rentals 
and/or for capital appreciation is measured initially at its cost, 
including transaction costs. subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment property will continue to be measured on a 
cost basis. investment property will be depreciated where 
applicable. 

depreciation is provided on investment property, including 
freehold buildings but excluding land. depreciation is 
calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net 
cost of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated 
residual value. the estimated useful lives, residual values 
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 
financial year, with the effect of any changes recognised on a 
prospective basis.

an investment property is derecognised upon disposal or 
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn 
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from 
the disposal. any gain or loss arising on derecognition of 
the property (calculated as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is 
derecognised.

3.19 intangible assets
3.19.1 intAngible Assets ACQuiRed sepARAtely
Intangible assets with finite lives acquired separately 
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. amortisation is recognised 
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. the 
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed 
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective 
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are 
acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.
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3.19.2 inteRnAlly-geneRAted intAngible Assets

3.19.2.1 research and development expenditure
in accordance with aasB 138.54 expenditure on research 
activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it 
is incurred.

an internally-generated intangible asset arising from 
development (or from the development phase of an internal 
project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have 
been demonstrated:
•  the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset 

so that it will be available for use or sale;
•  the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or 

sell it;
•  the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
•  how the intangible asset will generate probable future 

economic benefits;
•  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other 

resources to complete the development and to use or sell 
the intangible asset; and

•  the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable 
to the intangible asset during its development.

the amount initially recognised for internally-generated 
intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from 
the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition 
criteria listed above. where no internally-generated intangible 
asset can be recognised, development expenditure is 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

3.19.2.2 website development expenditure
the group has developed and operates a number of websites. 
these belong to one of two categories, those which are 
capable of generating revenue and those which are not.

Those which fit into the first category were developed to act 
as both information/advertising tools and as another means of 
selling our products. these websites also have the capability of 
generating direct revenues for the group by enabling orders 
to be placed online. this is considered to be an important 
growth channel for the business going forward. 

These websites generate probable future economic benefits 
and have a measurable cost and therefore satisfy the criteria 
set out in aasB 138 for recognition as an internally-generated 
intangible asset. expenditure on the development of those 
websites which belong to the second category and do not 
have these revenue generating capabilities does not meet the 
recognition criteria and thus is expensed as incurred.

expenditure during the planning stage is expensed as 
incurred in accordance with aasB 138 on the basis that it is 
akin to research. 

expenditure during the application and infrastructure 
development stage, the graphical design stage and the 
Content development stage, when the expenditure can be 
directly attributed and is necessary to creating, producing or 
preparing the website for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management, is included in the cost of the 
website recognised as an intangible asset. this is considered to 
be similar to the development stage as outlined in aasB 138.

expenditure relating to content development to the extent 
that content is developed to advertise and promote the 
group’s own products and services is expensed as incurred. 
similarly, any further expenditure once the website enters the 
Operating stage is expensed as incurred.

subsequent to initial recognition, internally generated 
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same 
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately. the 
website is estimated to have a useful life of three years.

3.19.3  intAngible Assets ACQuiRed in 
A business CoMbinAtion

intangible assets acquired in a business combination and 
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised 
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as 
their cost). 

subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in 
a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same 
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

3.19.4 deReCognition oF intAngible Assets
an intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. 
gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible 
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised 
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

3.20 business combinations
acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the 
acquisition method. the consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured at fair value which is 
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of 
assets transferred by the group, liabilities incurred by the 
group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity 
instruments issued by the group in exchange for control of the 
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or 
loss as incurred. 
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At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and 
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the 
acquisition date, except that: 

•   deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets 
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised 
and measured in accordance with aasB 112 ‘income 
Taxes’ and AASB 119 ‘Employee Benefits’ respectively; 

•   assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for 
sale in accordance with aasB 5 ‘noncurrent assets held 
for sale and discontinued Operations’ are measured in 
accordance with that standard.

goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the 
consideration transferred over the net of the acquisition-date 
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed. if, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and 
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the 
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

3.21 goodwill
goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at 
cost as established at the date of the acquisition of the business 
(see 3.20 above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

for the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to 
each of the group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies 
of the combination.

a cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is 
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there 
is indication that the unit may be impaired. if the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying 
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then 
to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying 
amount of each asset in the unit.

3.22 government grants
Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on 
a systematic basis over the periods in which the group 
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants 
are intended to compensate. 

government grants that are receivable as compensation for 
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of 
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future 
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in 
which they become receivable.

government assistance which does not have conditions 
attached specifically relating to the operating activities of 
the group is recognised in accordance with the accounting 
policies above.

4.  CritiCal aCCOunting 
Judgements and key sOurCes 
Of estimatiOn unCertainty

in the application of the accounting policies, which are described 
in note 3, management is required to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. the 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 
actual results may differ from these estimates.

the estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods.

4.1  useful lives of property plant  
And EquipMEnt

as described in note 3.7, the group reviews the useful lives of 
property, plant and equipment at the end of each financial year. 
no changes were made during the current year.

4.2  recoverability of internally 
gEnERAtEd intAngiBLE ASSEt

the directors considered the recoverability of the group’s 
internally generated intangible assets arising from its website 
development projects, which are included in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at 30 June 2011 at $809,000 
(30 June 2010: $716,000). 

the websites continue to gain popularity in a very satisfactory 
manner with monthly increases in the number of subscribers 
and activity levels. This level of engagement has reconfirmed 
the directors’ previous estimates of anticipated revenues from 
the projects. The Directors remain confident that the carrying 
amount of the assets will be recovered in full.
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5.  revenue
2011

$’000
2010

$’000

Revenue from continuing operations consisted of the following:
revenue from sale of goods  234,423  214,934 

interest revenue from bank deposits  161  427 

royalties  844  873 

 235,428  216,234 

6.  Other inCOme
gain/(loss) on disposals of property, plant and equipment  5  (36)

government grants received for market development1  21  -  

net foreign exchange gains  1,299  1,286 

net exchange losses on forward exchange contracts  (1,391)  (1,499)

 (66)  (249)

Other income per above  1,325  1,286 

losses per above  (1,391)  (1,535)

 (66)  (249)

1. No unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached to this assistance exist as at 30 June 2011.

7.  prOfit fOr the year

profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

Cost of sales  78,790  80,151 

interest expense:

 interest on bank loans  2,090  1,888 

 net settlement of interest rate swap  282  554 

total interest expense  2,372  2,442 

impairment of receivables: 

 trade receivables  -   425 

depreciation of non-current assets  4,211  4,037 

amortisation of non-current assets  318  104 

total depreciation and amortisation expense  4,529  4,141 

Operating lease minimum lease payments  1,391  1,034 

research and development costs expensed as incurred  624  734 

Employee benefit expense

 Post-employment benefits:

  Defined contribution plans  2,809  2,579 

 share-based payments:

  equity-settled share-based payments  1,139  880 

Termination benefits  405  65 

Other employee benefits  48,377  44,655 

 52,730  48,179
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8.  inCOme taxes 
2011

$’000
2010

$’000

 8.1 income tax recognised in profit 

 CuRRent tAx: 

 Current tax expense in respect of the current year  12,411  11,281 

 adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current tax of prior years  (385)  (100)

 deFeRRed tAx: 

 Deferred tax benefit relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences  (9)  (747)

 total income tax expense  12,017  10,434 

The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax accounting profit reconciles to the income tax expense in the consolidated 
financial statements as follows: 

 Profit before tax  39,322  34,731 

 income tax expense calculated at 30%  11,797  10,419 

 effect of different tax rates on tax on overseas income  (11)  (41)

 net effect of foreign tax debits/(credits)  115  (50)

 Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit  357  421 

 effect of tax concessions  (12)  (40)

 utilisation of tax losses not recognised as an asset  -  (13)

 effect of revenue exempt from tax  (7)  - 

 effect of withholding tax on intercompany dividend  161  - 

 Other items  2  (162)

 12,402  10,534 

 Over provision of income tax in previous year  (385)  (100)

 Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss  12,017  10,434 

the tax rate used for the 2011 and 2010 reconciliations above is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by australian corporate 
entities on taxable profits under Australian tax law.
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8. inCOme taxes (COntinued)
8.2 deferred tax balances 
deferred tax assets/(liabilities) arise from the following: 

 opening bAl-
AnCe 
$’000 

 ReCognised in 
pRoFit oR

 loss
$’000 

 ReCognised 
in otheR CoM-

pRehensiVe 
inCoMe

$’000 
 ACQuisitions 

$’000

 Closing
 bAlAnCe

$’000 

temporary differences 2011 
 property, plant and equipment  (933)  433  -  -  (500)
 prepayments and other  (34)  (173)  -  -  (207)
 provisions  1,974  32  -  4  2,010 
 accruals  1,112  (252)  -  -  860 
 Cash flow hedges  130  -  (63)  -  67 
 website development  60  1  -  -  61 
 foreign currency monetary items  17  (1)  -  -  16 
 Capitalised expenses  -  28  -  -  28 
 Other  (5)  -  -  -  (5)

 2,321  68  (63)  4  2,330 

presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows: 

 deferred tax asset  2,335 

 deferred tax (liability)  (5)

 2,330 

temporary differences 2010 
 property, plant and equipment  (911)  (22)  -  -  (933)

 prepayments and other  (25)  (9)  -  -  (34)

  provisions  1,534  440  -  -  1,974 

  accruals  774  338  -  -  1,112 

 Cash flow hedges  290  -  (160)  -  130 

 website development  57  3  -  -  60 

  foreign currency monetary items  20  (3)  -  -  17 

  Other  (5)  -  -  -  (5)

 1,734  747  (160)  -  2,321 

presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows: 

 deferred tax asset  2,326 

  deferred tax (liability)  (5)

 2,321 
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unrecognised deferred tax assets

 
2011

$’000
2010

$’000

 the following deferred tax assets have not been brought to account as assets: 

 tax losses – capital (no expiry date)  758  758 

 tax losses – revenue (expiry: 2015)  33  33 

 tax losses – revenue (expiry: 2016)  143  143 

 tax losses – revenue (expiry: 2017)  202  202 

 tax losses – revenue (expiry: 2018)  139  139 

 tax losses – revenue (expiry: 2019)  100  100 

 tax losses – revenue (expiry: 2020)  131  -  

 tax losses – revenue (no expiry date)  387  307 

 1,893  1,682

9. key management persOnnel COmpensatiOn
the aggregate compensation made to key management personnel of the group and the Company is set out below:

 
2011

$
2010

$

Short-term employee benefits  4,575,350 5,222,265

Post-employment benefits  307,926 247,854

Other long-term benefits  63,210 35,271

Termination benefits  341,407  -  

share-based payment  677,033 594,692

 5,964,926 6,100,082

the compensation of each member of the key management personnel of the group and a discussion of the compensation policies 
of the Company are detailed in the directors’ report which accompanies these consolidated financial statements.



72

nOtes tO the finanCial statements
fOr the finanCial year ended 30 June 2011

10. share-Based payments
executive performance share plan
the executive performance share plan was approved at Blackmores’ annual general meeting in november 2008. participation 
is open to senior executives determined to be eligible by the Board. under this plan, rights to acquire shares in the Company are 
granted annually to eligible Senior Executives at no cost and vest provided specific performance hurdles are met. 

the fair value of rights granted is calculated in accordance with aasB 2 ‘share-based payments’. during the year, the Company 
granted entitlements to an allocation of ordinary shares provided specific objectives and hurdles were met. The number of ordinary 
shares that will be issued for nil consideration in relation to the services performed during the financial year ended 30 June 2011 
is 32,960 (2010: 63,800). the minimum number of rights that could be vested under the entitlement was 11,329 (2010: 13,278) 
and the maximum number of rights that could be vested was 59,498 (2010: 73,140).

The following share-based payment arrangements were in existence during the current and prior financial years:

shARe Rights seRies
nuMbeR oF 

Rights gRAnt dAte expiRy dAte
exeRCise 

pRiCe
FAiR VAlue At 

gRAnt dAte

gRAnts in the 2011 yeAR $

granted 13 september 2010  52,104  13 september 2010  30 June 2011  22.32 
granted 9 december 2010  7,394  9 december 2010  30 June 2011  25.55 

gRAnts in the 2010 yeAR $

granted 9 december 2009 71,985  9 december 2009  30 June 2010 24.54  18.67 

granted 30 april 2010 1,155  30 april 2010  30 June 2010 24.54  21.53 

the following reconciles the share-based arrangements outstanding at the beginning and end of the year:

2011 2010

nuMbeR oF 
Rights

Weighted 
AVeRAge 
exeRCise 

pRiCe nuMbeR

Weighted 
AVeRAge 
exeRCise 

pRiCe

Balance at the beginning of the year 63,800 16,019

granted during the year 59,498 73,140

forfeited during the year (26,538) (9,340)

exercised during the year (63,800) 24.54 (16,019) 19.11

expired during the year  -   -  

Balance at the end of the year 32,960 63,800

exercisable at the end of the year 32,960 63,800

the allocation is based on a percentage of the senior executive’s and senior manager’s base remuneration and the allocation 
varies depending on the actual eps growth delivered for the relevant year as follows:

share rights are vested as at 30 June 2011 and shares are subsequently issued in september following audit clearance of the 
Group’s result and Board approval. The issue price for share rights granted in the 2011 financial year will be determined in 
september 2011.
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chief executive officer   
pERCEntAgE Of 

pARtiCipAnt’S BASE 
REMunERAtiOn

RAte oF eps gRoWth 2011 2010

greater than 4% but less than or equal to 5%  25.0  25.0 
greater than 5% but less than or equal to 6%  31.3  31.3 
greater than 6% but less than or equal to 7%  37.5  37.5 
greater than 7% but less than or equal to 8%  43.8  43.8 
greater than 8% but less than or equal to 9%  50.0  50.0 
greater than 9% but less than or equal to 10%  56.3  56.3 
greater than 10% but less than or equal to 11%  62.5  62.5 
greater than 11% but less than or equal to 12%  68.8  68.8 
greater than 12% but less than or equal to 13%  75.0  75.0 
greater than 13% but less than or equal to 14%  81.3  81.3 
greater than 14% but less than or equal to 15%  87.5  87.5 
greater than 15% but less than or equal to 16%  93.8  93.8 
greater than 16%  100.0  100.0

senior executives and other senior company management
2011 And 2010
The Percentage of Base Remuneration at levels of EPS Growth for the 2011 financial year is determined by the following formula:
5% + (eps growth% less 4%) x 2.5), provided that eps growth is at least equal to or greater than 4%. 
senior management’s percentage is one quarter of senior executives.
examples of percentage of Base remuneration at levels of eps growth are as follows. 

RAte oF eps gRoWth
pERCEntAgE Of pARtiCipAnt’S 

BASE REMunERAtiOn

senioR 
exeCutiVes

otheR senioR 
CoMpAny 

MAnAgeMent

less than 4%  -  -
equal to 4%  5.0  1.25 
equal to 5%  7.5  1.88 
equal to 6%  10.0  2.50 
equal to 7%  12.5  3.13 
equal to 8%  15.0  3.75 
equal to 9%  17.5  4.38 
equal to 10%  20.0  5.00 
equal to 11%  22.5  5.63 
equal to 12%  25.0  6.25 
equal to 13%  27.5  6.88 
equal to 14%  30.0  7.50 
equal to 15%  32.5  8.13 
equal to 16%  35.0  8.75 
equal to 17%  37.5  9.38 
equal to or greater than 18%  40.0  10.00

senior executive animal health division
2011
the allocation is based on a percentage of the senior executive’s base remuneration. the allocation is primarily payable only if actual sales 
revenue exceeds 150% of budgeted revenue for the animal health Business. thereafter assuming this initial criteria is met, the allocation 
then varies depending on the performance of actual eBit compared to stretch eBit target, which is also in excess of that budgeted for the 
business. the minimum payout is 0% and the maximum potential payout is 100% of the senior executive’s base remuneration.
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10.  share-Based payments 
(COntinued)

shares allocated to key management personnel are subject to 
a two year holding lock whereby a percentage of the shares is 
treated as deferred shares. if the senior executive resigns or is 
terminated (except for reasons other than death, serious injury, 
disability or illness or involuntary early retirement) the deferred 
shares are treated as forfeited.

the number of shares to be issued to a senior executive 
is determined by dividing the percentage amount of base 
remuneration calculated in accordance with the above by:

•   the weighted average price of the shares for the five day 
trading period commencing seven days after Blackmores’ 
results in respect of the prior financial year (year ended 30 
June 2010) are announced to the asx, less

•   the amount of any final dividend per share declared as 
payable for the year ended 30 June 2010.

Special Long-term incentives
at the 2009 annual general meeting, shareholders 
approved the grant to Christine holgate of 50,360 
Blackmores shares for nil consideration as part of a special 
long-term incentive (slti). eligibility for an slti was part of 
the employment contract agreed with ms holgate.

the shares were issued to ms holgate in november 2009 
and will vest subject to a service condition enforced by the 
following holding locks:

•   30,216 shares are subject to a holding lock ending 
30 days after the audit clearance of the group’s 2011 
consolidated financial statements;

•   20,144 shares are subject to a holding lock ending 30 days 
after the audit clearance of the group’s 2013 consolidated 
financial statements.

a share-based payment expense of $160,939 (2010: 
$160,939) was recorded in relation to these shares for the 
year ended 30 June 2011. this amount has been included in 
the total remuneration for Christine holgate as set out in the 
key management personnel remuneration disclosure on 
page 43 of the directors’ report.

Staff Share Acquisition plan
the group has established a staff share acquisition plan. the 
plan is open to all employees including senior executives and 
enables them to purchase up to $1,000 of Blackmores shares 
tax free (subject to taxable income thresholds) each year with 
money that would have otherwise been paid as profit share. 
there were 3,141 shares issued during the year ended 30 June 
2011 (2010: 3,213 shares). in July 2011, 2,411 shares (2010: 
3,108 shares) were issued to employees, including senior 
Executives, for profit share entitlement that would otherwise 
have been paid in cash during the year ended 30 June 2011.

Options plan
at 1 July 2010 and at 1 July 2009 there were no share options 
outstanding, none were issued during the years ended 30 
June 2011 and 2010 and as at 30 June 2011 and 2010 there 
were no unexercised share options.

the compensation of each member of the key management 
personnel of the group and a discussion of the compensation 
policies of the group are detailed in the remuneration report 
which accompanies these consolidated financial statements.

11. remuneratiOn Of auditOr
2011

$
2010

$

Auditor of the parent Entity
auditing or reviewing the financial statements  238,904  211,700 

taxation services  12,205  89,763 

Other non-audit services1  16,475  60,685 

 267,584  362,148 

Related practice of the parent Company Auditor
auditing the financial statements  80,946  84,859 

taxation services  38,820  31,417 

 119,766  116,276

the auditor of Blackmores limited is deloitte touche tohmatsu.

1. Other non-audit services is comprised of fees in relation to the provision of accounting advice and consulting services.   
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12. reCeivaBles
2011

$’000
2010

$’000

Current 
Current trade and other receivables1  44,175  34,915 

allowance for doubtful debts  (478)  (589)

allowance for claims  (746)  (392)

 42,951  33,934 

goods and services tax (gst) recoverable  79  60 

 43,030  33,994

non-current

payment on account on a building contract 2,500  2,500

1.  the average credit period on sale of goods is 30 days from the end of the month of invoice. no interest is charged on trade receivables and the group does not hold any 
collateral over these balances. trade receivables consist of a large number of customers spread across several retail channels and geographic regions. 

the concentration of risk is limited due to the customer base generally being large and unrelated. at 30 June 2011, the group had 
four customers (2010: five customers) each comprising amounts greater than 5% of the total trade receivables. These customers 
owed the group more than $2.2 million (2010: $1.7 million) each and accounted for approximately 60% (2010: 48%) of all 
receivables owing. 

Ageing of past due but not impaired 
0 – 30 days past due date  1,393  2,720 

31 – 60 days past due date  80  115 

61 – 90 days past due date  4  698 

> 90 days past due date  41  115 

total  1,518  3,648 

an allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable trade receivable amounts arising from the past sale of goods, determined 
by reference to past default experience. in determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the group considers any change 
in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. the group manages 
credit risk with regular review of the balances outstanding and restrictive action is taken where necessary.

Ageing of impaired trade Receivables 
0 – 30 days  196  177 

31 – 60 days  54  -  

61 – 90 days  15  58 

> 90 days  213  354 

total  478  589

included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired trade receivables with a balance of $60,602 (2010: $64,007) 
which have been placed into liquidation. the group does not hold any collateral over these balances. the directors believe that there 
is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.

Movement in the Allowance for doubtful debts
Balance at the beginning of the year 589 177

impairment losses recognised on trade receivables - 425

amounts written off as uncollectable (38) (13)

provision release (73)  -  

Balance at the end of the year 478 589



76

nOtes tO the finanCial statements
fOr the finanCial year ended 30 June 2011

13. inventOries
2011

$’000
2010

$’000

raw materials  7,569  8,550 

finished goods  16,180  14,005 

 23,749  22,555

the cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year in respect of continuing operations was approximately 
$78,790,000 (2010: $80,151,000).

There were no write downs of inventory below cost during the financial year (2010: nil).

inventories of $nil (30 June 2010: $nil) are expected to be recovered after more than 12 months.

14. prOperty, plant and eQuipment
Cost  84,141  82,280 

accumulated depreciation  (19,215)  (16,132)

 64,926  66,148 
freehold land  12,848  12,845 
Buildings  33,496  34,064 
leasehold improvements  93  103 
plant and equipment  17,246  17,845 
Capital work in progress  1,243  1,291 

 64,926  66,148

 FReehold 
 lAnd At 

Cost 
 $’000 

 buildings 
 At Cost 

 $’000 

 leAsehold 
 iMpRoVe-

Ments 
 At Cost 

 $’000 

 plAnt And 
 eQuipMent 

 At Cost 
 $’000 

 CApitAl 
WoRk 

 in 
pRogRess 

 $’000 
 totAl 
 $’000 

Cost
Balance at 30 June 2009  12,767  34,772  667  31,159  370  79,735 

additions  78  609  7  1,314  1,346  3,354 

Category transfers  -   -   -   425  (425)  -  

disposals  -   -   -   (887)  -   (887)

Other  -   -   -   69  -   69 

net foreign currency exchange 
differences arising on translation of 
financial statements of foreign operations  -   -   (1)  10  -   9 

balance at 30 June 2010  12,845  35,381  673  32,090  1,291  82,280 

additions  3  394  45  1,342  1,229  3,013 
acquisitions through business 
combinations  -   -   -   13  -   13 
Category transfers  -   -   -   1,277  (1,277)  -  
disposals  -   -   -   (1,056)  -   (1,056)
net foreign currency exchange 
differences arising on translation of 
financial statements of foreign operations  -   -   (23)  (86)  -   (109)

balance at 30 June 2011  12,848  35,775  695  33,580  1,243  84,141 
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 FReehold 
 lAnd At 

Cost 
 $’000 

 buildings 
 At Cost 

 $’000 

 leAsehold 
 iMpRoVe-

Ments 
 At Cost 

 $’000 

 plAnt And 
 eQuipMent 

 At Cost 
 $’000 

 CApitAl 
WoRk 

 in 
pRogRess 

 $’000 
 totAl 
 $’000 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 30 June 2009  -   (373)  (539)  (12,019)  -   (12,931)
disposals  -   -   -   849  -   849 
depreciation expense  -   (944)  (31)  (3,062)  -   (4,037)
net foreign currency exchange 
differences arising on translation of 
financial statements of foreign operations  -   -   -   (13)  -   (13)
balance at 30 June 2010  -   (1,317)  (570)  (14,245)  -   (16,132)
acquisitions through business combinations  -   -   -   (10)  -   (10)
disposals  -   -   -   1,040  -   1,040 
depreciation expense  -   (962)  (47)  (3,202)  -   (4,211)
net foreign currency exchange 
differences arising on translation of 
financial statements of foreign operations  -   -   15  83  -   98 
balance at 30 June 2011  -   (2,279)  (602)  (16,334)  -   (19,215)

net Book value
as at 30 June 2010  12,845  34,064  103  17,845  1,291  66,148 

As at 30 June 2011  12,848  33,496  93  17,246  1,243  64,926 

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Aggregate depreciation Allocated:
Buildings  962  944 
leasehold improvements  47  31 
plant and equipment  3,202  3,062 

 4,211  4,037 

no impairment losses have been recognised in the current year (2010: $nil).

15. investment prOperty
2011

$’000
2010

$’000

Cost of investment property  2,160  2,160 

At Cost
Balance at beginning of year  2,160  -  
additions  -   2,160 

Balance at end of year  2,160  2,160 

Investment property in the form of a plot of land at 15 Jubilee Avenue, Warriewood, NSW 2102 was acquired during the financial 
year ended 30 June 2010. at the date of the signing of these consolidated financial statements there were no plans to use this 
land for the production of goods or services or for administrative purposes, nor for sale in the ordinary course of business.

in line with our accounting policy on investment property, this property has been measured at cost. the cost of the purchased 
investment property comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable expenditure. directly attributable expenditure 
includes professional fees for legal services, property transfer taxes and other transaction costs. as the property in question is 
freehold land, no depreciation is recognised in relation to it.

this investment property is tested for impairment annually. to date no impairment losses have been recognised and the directors 
remain confident that the carrying amount of the investment property will be recovered in full.
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16. Other intangiBle assets
2011

$’000
2010

$’000

Cost  2,434  820 

accumulated amortisation and impairment  (422)  (104)

 2,012  716

CApitAlised
Website

 deVelop-
Ment
$’000

RegistRA-
tions1,2

$’000

tRAde-
MARks1,2

$’000

FoRMulA-
tions1,2

$’000

distRibution
AgReeMent1

$’000
totAl
$’000

Cost
Balance at 30 June 2009  410  -   -   -   -   410 
additions from internal development  410  -   -   -   -   410 
Balance at 30 June 2010  820  -   -   -   -   820 
additions from internal 
development  384  -   -   -   -   384 
acquisitions through  
business combinations  -   797  120  272  41  1,230 
balance at 30 June 2011  1,204  797  120  272  41  2,434 

Accumulated Amortisation
Balance at 30 June 2009  -   -  -  -  -  - 
amortisation expense  (104)  -  -  -  -  (104)
Balance at 30 June 2010  (104)  -  -  -  -  (104)
amortisation expense  (291)  -  -  -  (27)  (318)
balance at 30 June 2011  (395)  -  -  -  (27)  (422)

net Book value
as at 30 June 2010  716  -   -   -   -   716 
As at 30 June 2011  809  797  120  272  14  2,012 

1. these assets were acquired in a business combination.

2. These assets are considered to be of indefinite life and therefore do not require amortisation, but are subject to impairment testing.

the following useful lives are used in the calculation of amortisation expense:

Capitalised website development  3 years 

distribution agreement  18 months 

the amortisation expense has been included in the line item ‘depreciation and amortisation expense’ in the consolidated income 
statement.

17. trade and Other payaBles
2011

$’000
2010

$’000

trade payables1  10,051  11,054 

goods and services tax (gst) payable  625  75 

Other creditors and accruals  15,167  15,446 

 25,843  26,575 

1.  The average credit period on purchases is 30 days from the end of the month of invoice. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure all payables 
are paid within the credit time-frame.
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18. Other Current finanCial liaBilities
derivatives and hedging instruments (designated as effective) are carried at fair value:

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Liabilities
interest rate swaps  155  433 

foreign currency forward contracts  -   227 

 155  660

the weighted average interest rates related to interest rate swaps were 5.68% (2010: 5.92%).

19. BOrrOwings

non-current
secured – at amortised cost:

 Bank bills1,2  40,000  47,356 

summary of borrowing arrangements:

1. Secured by registered mortgage debentures and a floating charge over certain assets of the Group. 

2.  in accordance with the security arrangements of liabilities, as disclosed in this note to the consolidated financial statements, effectively all assets of the parent entity have 
been pledged as security.

20. Current tax liaBilities 

income tax payable  3,570  3,992

21. prOvisiOns

Current
Employee benefits1  3,239  2,816 

Directors’ retirement benefits2  414  414 

 3,653  3,230 

non-current

Employee benefits  792  741 

1. The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave and vested long service leave entitlements accrued.

2.  The provision for Directors’ retirement benefits represents amounts set aside as Directors’ retirement allowances in accordance with a resolution passed by shareholders 
at the 4 november 1993 annual general meeting. 
directors appointed prior to 1 October 2003 receive a retirement allowance of $15,333 per annum that is capped after nine years of service at $138,000.
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21. prOvisiOns (COntinued)
Reconciliations

diReCtoRs’ 
RetiReMent

beneFits
$’000

Balance at 30 June 2010  414 

additional provisions recognised  - 

reductions arising from payments made  - 

balance at 30 June 2011  414 
Current  414 
non-current  - 

 414 

22. issued Capital
2011

$’000
2010

$’000

16,744,292 fully paid ordinary shares (2010: 16,677,351)  25,348 25,348

2011
nuMbeR

’000

2011 shARe
CApitAl

$’000

2010
nuMbeR

’000 

2010 shARe
CApitAl

$’000

fully paid Ordinary Shares
Balance at beginning of financial year  16,677  25,348  16,402  21,680 

issue of shares under executive and employee share plans  
(notes 10, 32.3)  67  -   78  -  

issue of shares under dividend reinvestment plan  -   -   197  3,668 

Balance at end of financial year  16,744  25,348  16,677  25,348 

fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends.

Employee Share plans
further details of the group’s executive and employee share plans are contained in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

23. reserves
2011

$’000
2010

$’000

Equity-settled employee benefits reserve  4,805  3,666 

hedge reserve  (157)  (303)

foreign currency translation reserve  (3,054)  (893)

 1,594  2,470 
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23.1 equity-settled employee benefits reserve
The equity-settled employee benefits reserve arises on the grant of share rights to Executives and employees under various share plans. 
further information about share-based payments to executives and employees is in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Balance at beginning of year  3,666  2,786 

share-based payments expense  1,139  880 

Balance at end of year  4,805  3,666 

23.2 hedge reserve
The hedge reserve represents hedging gains and losses recognised on the effective portion of cash flow hedges. The cumulative 
deferred gain or loss on the hedge is recognised in profit or loss when the hedged transaction impacts the profit or loss, or is 
included as a basis adjustment to the non-financial hedged item, consistent with the applicable accounting policy.

Balance at beginning of year  (303)  (676)

net gain on revaluation  146  373 

Balance at end of year  (157)  (303)

23.3 foreign currency translation reserve 
exchange differences relating to foreign currency monetary items forming part of the net investment in a foreign operation and the 
translation of foreign controlled entities are brought to account by entries made directly to the foreign currency translation reserve, 
as described in note 3.14 to the consolidated financial statements.

Balance at beginning of year  (893)  (1,234)

exchange differences arising on translating the foreign controlled entities  (2,161)  341 

Balance at end of year  (3,054)  (893)

24. retained earnings

retained earnings  52,170  43,972 

Balance at the beginning of the year  43,972  36,007 

Profit for the year  27,305  24,297 

payment of dividends  (19,107)  (16,332)

Balance at end of year  52,170  43,972

25. earnings per share
2011

Cents peR 
shARe

2010
Cents peR 

shARe

Basic earnings per share 163.2 146.8

diluted earnings per share 162.9 146.4



82

nOtes tO the finanCial statements
fOr the finanCial year ended 30 June 2011

25. earnings per share (COntinued)
Basic Earnings per Share 
the earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows:

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Earnings (reconciles directly to profit for the year in the consolidated Income Statement)  27,305  24,297 

2011
nuMbeR

2010
nuMbeR

Weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue during the financial year used in the 
calculation of basic earnings per share 16,733,395 16,556,169

diluted Earnings per Share
earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share are as follows:

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Earnings (reconciles directly to profit for the year in the consolidated Income Statement)  27,305  24,297 

2011
nuMbeR

2010
nuMbeR

weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 16,733,395 16,556,169

shares deemed to be issued for no consideration in respect of:

 employee share plans  28,055 35,479

weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used in the 
calculation of diluted earnings per share 16,761,450 16,591,648

26. dividends
2011

Cents peR
shARe

totAl
$’000

2010
Cents peR

shARe
totAl
$’000

Recognised Amounts
Fully pAid oRdinARy shARes

final dividend for year ended 30 June 2010 (2010: 30 June 2009)

– fully franked at 30% corporate tax rate  70  11,740 57  9,370 

interim dividend for year ended 30 June 2011 (2010: 30 June 2010)

– fully franked at 30% corporate tax rate  44  7,367 42  6,962 

 114  19,107 99  16,332 

unrecognised Amounts
Fully pAid oRdinARy shARes

final dividend – fully franked at 30% corporate tax rate 80 13,397 

The final dividend in respect of ordinary shares for the year ended 30 June 2011 has not been recognised in these consolidated 
Financial Statements because the final dividend was declared subsequent to 30 June 2011. On the basis that Directors will 
continue to publicly recommend dividends in respect of ordinary shares subsequent to reporting date, in future consolidated 
Financial Statements the amount disclosed as ‘recognised’ will be the final dividend in respect of the prior financial year, and the 
interim dividend in respect of the current financial year. 
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COMpAny

2011
$’000 

2010
$’000 

adjusted franking account balance  7,586  6,597 

27. COmmitments fOr expenditure

Research and development Contracts
not longer than 1 year  95  -  

longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years  120  -  

longer than 5 years  -   -  

 215  -  

plant and Equipment
not longer than 1 year  1,436  -  

longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years  -   -  

longer than 5 years  -   -  

 1,436  -  

promotional Services1

not longer than 1 year  250  -  

longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years  1,000  -  

longer than 5 years  -   -  

 1,250  -  

1.  the group has entered into a long-term joint venture arrangement on 9 september 2010 with an established supplier of internet-based personalised health clubs and 
related services. the initial term of the agreement covers a 5 year period and determines that the partner will provide services covering web design, maintenance and 
hosting. in terms of the joint venture arrangement, all revenue generated from the membership and advertising will be shared equally. Blackmores will be responsible for 
promotional services to the value of not less than $250,000 per year in addition to the ancillary services and support required . No financial transactions occurred during 
the financial year ended 30 June 2011.

Lease Commitments
non-cancellable operating lease commitments are disclosed in note 28 of the consolidated financial statements.

28. Operating leases
Leasing Arrangements
Operating leases relate to business premises and the Group’s motor vehicle fleet with lease terms of between three and six years. 
all operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event that the group exercises its option to renew. the group 
does not have an option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease period.

non-cancellable Operating Lease payments
not longer than 1 year  998  800 

longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years  1,159  618 

 2,157  1,418 
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29. COntingent liaBilities
variation Claims by Building Contractor
The building contractor in respect of the construction of the Group’s Warriewood head office has commenced court proceedings 
against Blackmores, claiming additional monies to the fixed price contract sum. The Group is defending the proceedings, has 
denied these claims and has brought cross claims against the building contractor for a return of a payment on account, in addition 
to compensation for delays and costs relating to certain defects. the directors believe that Blackmores will not face a liability to the 
contractor. accordingly, no liability has been recorded in relation to the building contractor’s claims as at 30 June 2011.

30. suBsidiaries
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the financial year are as follows.

nAMe oF entity
CountRy oF
inCoRpoRAtion

OWnERShip intERESt

pRinCipAl ACtiVity
2011 

%
2010 

%

Blackmores nominees pty limited australia 100 100 management of employee share plans

pat health limited hong kong 100 100 marketing of natural health products

Blackmores (taiwan) limited taiwan 100 100 marketing of natural health products

pure animal wellbeing pty limited australia 100  -  
holder of intellectual property for 
animal health division

Blackmores (new Zealand) limited1 new Zealand 100 100 dormant

Blackmores (singapore) pte limited singapore 100 100 marketing of natural health products

  Blackmores (malaysia) sdn Bhd malaysia 100 100 marketing of natural health products

  Blackmores (thailand) limited thailand 100 100 marketing of natural health products

  Blackmores holdings limited1 thailand 100 100 holding Company

  pt Blackmores indonusa1,2 indonesia  -  100 dormant

1. These companies did not trade during the 2011 or 2010 financial years.

2. This company was wound up during the 2011 financial year.

Companies incorporated outside australia carry on business in the country of incorporation. all overseas entities have been 
audited by overseas firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

Economic dependency
The Group is not significantly dependent upon any other entity.

31. segment infOrmatiOn
information reported to the group’s Chief Operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of 
performance is largely focused on geographical regions. in order to better align our segment reporting with our internal focus,  
our larger asian markets – thailand and malaysia – are now presented as separate segments, with the remainder of the asian 
markets aggregated as ‘Other asia’. the group’s reportable segments under aasB 8 are therefore as follows:
australia
thailand
malaysia
Other asia
new Zealand
Other

the principal activity of each segment is the development and/or marketing of health products including vitamins, herbal, mineral 
and nutritional supplements.
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SEgMEnt REvEnuES fOR thE yEAR EndEd 30 JunE 2011 

ExtERnAL SALES intER-SEgMEnt1 ROyALtiES tOtAL

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

australia  185,100  179,567  15,670  15,092  -   -   200,770  194,659 

thailand  20,349  16,846  -   -   -   -   20,349  16,846 

malaysia  13,400  11,496  -   -   -   -   13,400  11,496 

Other asia2  10,662  3,272  -   -   -   -   10,662  3,272 

new Zealand  3,520  3,721  -   -   837  848  4,357  4,569 

Other  1,392  32  -   -   7  25  1,399  57 

total of all 
segments  234,423  214,934  15,670  15,092  844  873  250,937  230,899 

eliminations3  (15,670)  (15,092)

Consolidated revenue (excluding interest revenue and other income)  235,267  215,807

1. intersegment sales are recorded at cost plus 10%. pricing is initially set using a budgeted exchange rate and reviewed each quarter.

2. Other asia comprises the markets of korea, singapore, hong kong and taiwan.

3. this is the total of adjustments to revenue as a result of the intercompany consolidation eliminations.

the accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the group’s accounting policies described in note 3.

infORMAtiOn ABOut MAJOR CuStOMERS
the group had two customers who contributed more than 10% of the group’s revenue in 2011. included in external sales of the 
australian segment of $185,100,000 (2010: $179,567,000) are sales of $36,323,064 (2010: $29,389,513) and $35,849,532 
(2010: $24,228,625) which arose from sales to the group’s two largest customers.

ExtERnAL SALES tO CuStOMERS fOR thE yEAR EndEd 30 JunE 2011

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

australia  185,100  179,567 

thailand  20,349  16,846 

malaysia  13,400  11,496 

Other asia  10,662  3,272 

new Zealand  8,370  8,485 

Other  1,462  250 

total of all segments  239,343  219,916

External Sales represents the sale of goods when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have transferred to 
the ultimate buyer. in new Zealand, the buyer of Blackmores goods sells these products to a customer base that is equivalent to the 
customer base represented by external sales made in australia and asia. Blackmores has an agency arrangement with the buyer in 
new Zealand and earns royalty revenue on sales made to this customer base.

additional disclosure has been provided in the above table so that external sales to the equivalent customer base can be compared 
on a geographical basis.
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31. segment infOrmatiOn (COntinued)
SEgMEnt RESuLtS fOR thE yEAR EndEd 30 JunE 2011

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

australia  22,180 21,472

thailand  4,200 2,312

malaysia  1,205 726

Other asia  (61) (694)

new Zealand  425 467

Other  (644) 14

Profit after tax  27,305 24,297

Segment profit represents the net profit after tax earned by each segment. This is the measure reported to the Chief Operating 
decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

CuRREnt nOn-CuRREnt

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

SEgMEnt ASSEtS AS At 30 JunE 2011
australia  60,433 63,930  76,143 77,240

thailand  9,226 8,119  586 475

malaysia  6,936 6,638  65 83

Other asia  3,889 3,474  1,180 1,153

new Zealand  56 71  -   -  

Other  151 14  1,860  -  

total of all segments  80,691 82,246  79,834 78,951

eliminations1  (2,170) (1,761)  (5,225) (5,087)

total assets  78,521 80,485  74,609 73,864

1. this relates to consolidation adjustments for the elimination of intercompany investments and loans.

OthER SEgMEnt infORMAtiOn fOR thE yEAR EndEd 30 JunE 2011

AuStRALiA thAiLAnd MALAySiA OthER ASiA nEW zEALAnd OthER

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

interest revenue  204  454  1  2  5  -   1  1  -   -   -   -  

interest expense 2,372  2,442  -   -   -   -   50  30  -   -   -   -  

additions to  
non-current 
assets  4,445  5,831  140  84 16  6  39  3  -   -   -   -  

depreciation and 
amortisation

 
4,345 

 
4,048  120  70 21  20  11  3  -   -   32  -  

Other non-cash 
expenses1

 
2,453  1,877  70  99 463  361  141  148  -   174  -   -  

1.  Other non-cash expenses relate to provisions raised in respect of doubtful debts and stock obsolescence, long-term incentives, employee share plans and other 
provisions and accruals.
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32. related party and key management persOnnel disClOsures
32.1 equity interests in related parties
eQuity inteRests in subsidiARies
details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in controlled entities are disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

32.2 key management personnel remuneration
details of key management personnel’s remuneration are disclosed in note 9, note 10 and in the remuneration report which 
accompanies these consolidated financial statements.

32.3 key management personnel’s equity holdings
key MAnAgeMent peRsonnel’s eMployee shARe plAns, shAReholdings And shARe Rights
during the years ended 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2010 there were no share options in existence. there have been no share 
options issued since the end of the financial year.

Fully pAid oRdinARy shARes oF blACkMoRes liMited

2011

bAlAnCe At 
1/7/10

nuMbeR

ReCeiVed on 
settleMent 

oF Rights
nuMbeR

net ChAnge 
otheR 1

nuMbeR

bAlAnCe At 
30/6/11

nuMbeR

non-executive directors
s Chapman  22,055  -   -   22,055 

v fitzgerald  10,216  -   -   10,216 

n sparks  -   -   -   -  

r stovold  27,910  -   -   27,910 

B wallace  12,161  -   -   12,161 

executive directors
m Blackmore  4,479,278  -   -   4,479,278 

C holgate  59,203  31,030  -   90,233 

senior executives
k Cunningham2  4,073  -   -   4,073 

r henfrey  274  5,149  -   5,423 

C last  441  945  45  1,431 

n mercado3  167  -   -  167 

p Osborne  237  -   45  282 

g perera3  205  -   -   205 

l richards  18,262  4,422  -   22,684 

former kmp’s and senior executives
p Barraket4,5  10,121  5,496  (6,245)  9,372 

l Burrows6  17,182  4,422  -   21,604 

s moore4,5  302  5,320  (5,461)  161 

total (for key Management personnel)  4,662,087  56,784  (11,616)  4,707,255

1. includes shares issued under the Company’s staff share acquisition plan.

2. k Cunningham’s opening share balance is at the date of appointment as a kmp (1 april 2011).

3. n mercado’s and g perera’s opening share balance is at the date of appointment as kmps (1 June 2011).

4. p Barraket’s and s moore’s closing share balances are at the date of their resignation (8 april 2011).

5. p Barraket’s and s moore’s net Change Other includes shares that were subject to forfeiture under the rules of the executive performance share plan.

6. l Burrows’ closing balance is at the date of ceasing as a kmp (8 november 2010).
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32.  related party and key management persOnnel 
disClOsures (COntnued)

2010

bAlAnCe At 
1/7/09

nuMbeR

ReCeiVed on 
settleMent 

oF Rights
nuMbeR

net ChAnge 
otheR 1

nuMbeR

bAlAnCe At 
30/6/10

nuMbeR

non-executive directors
s Chapman  20,914  -   1,141  22,055 

v fitzgerald  10,000  -   216  10,216 

n sparks  -   -   -   -  

r stovold  26,723  -   1,187  27,910 

B wallace  11,531  -   630  12,161 

executive directors
m Blackmore  4,434,018  -   45,260  4,479,278 

C holgate2  -   8,843  50,360  59,203 

senior executives
p Barraket  11,872  1,588  (3,339)  10,121 

l Burrows  15,024  1,248  910  17,182 

r henfrey  100  254  (80)  274 

C last - -  441  441 

s moore  -   282  20  302 

p Osborne  -   170  67  237 

l richards  17,033  1,209  20  18,262 

former kmp’s and senior executives
g Burgoyne3  -   -   -   -  

r rich4  671  -   61  732 

total (for key Management personnel)  4,547,886  13,594  96,894  4,658,374

1. includes 20 fully paid shares which were issued to all eligible employees employed as at 30 June 2009 for nil consideration.

2.  shareholders at the 2009 annual general meeting approved the grant of 50,360 shares to C holgate for nil consideration as part of a special long-term incentive 
(slti). eligibility for a slti was part of the employment contract agreed with C holgate.

3.  g Burgoyne’s closing share balance is at the date of his resignation (28 may 2010).

4. r rich’s closing share balance is at the date of ceasing as a kmp (3 september 2009).

Rights to Shares

2011

bAlAnCe 
As At 1/7/10

nuMbeR

gRAnted 
As 

CoMpen-
sAtion

nuMbeR
exeRCised

nuMbeR

net otheR 
ChAnge
nuMbeR

bAlAnCe 
As At 

30/6/11
nuMbeR

bAlAnCe 
Vested At 

30/6/11
nuMbeR

Vested 
but not 

exeRCis-
Able

nuMbeR

Vested 
And exeR-

CisAble
nuMbeR

Rights 
Vested 

duRing 
yeAR

nuMbeR

executive director
C holgate  31,030  26,699  (31,030)  (8,330)  18,369  18,369  -   18,369  18,369 

senior executives
k Cunningham1  -   1,140  -   (485)  655  655  -   655  655 

r henfrey  5,149  5,504  (5,149)  (2,343)  3,161  3,161  -   3,161  3,161 

C last  945  5,002  (945)  (2,129)  2,873  2,873  -   2,873  2,873 

n mercado2  -   313  -   (133)  180 180 - 180 180

g perera2  -   313  -   (133)  180 180 - 180 180

l richards  4,422  5,083  (4,422)  (2,164)  2,919 2,919  -  2,919 2,919 
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2011

bAlAnCe 
As At 1/7/10

nuMbeR

gRAnted 
As 

CoMpen-
sAtion

nuMbeR
exeRCised

nuMbeR

net otheR 
ChAnge
nuMbeR

bAlAnCe 
As At 

30/6/11
nuMbeR

bAlAnCe 
Vested At 

30/6/11
nuMbeR

Vested 
but not 

exeRCis-
Able

nuMbeR

Vested 
And exeR-

CisAble
nuMbeR

Rights 
Vested 

duRing 
yeAR

nuMbeR

former kmp’s and senior executives
p Barraket  5,496  5,421  (5,496)  (5,421)  -   -   -   -   -  

l Burrows  4,422  -   (4,422)  -   -   -   -   -   -  

s moore  5,320  5,252  (5,320)  (5,252)  -   -   -   -   -  

total (for key 
Management 
personnel)  56,784  54,727  (56,784)

 
(26,390)  28,337  28,337  -  28,337 28,337

2010

bAlAnCe 
As At 

1/7/09
nuMbeR

gRAnted 
As 

CoMpen-
sAtion

nuMbeR
exeRCised

nuMbeR

net otheR 
ChAnge
nuMbeR

bAlAnCe 
As At 

30/6/10
nuMbeR

bAlAnCe 
Vested At 

30/6/10
nuMbeR

Vested 
but not 

exeRCis-
Able

nuMbeR

Vested 
And exeR-

CisAble
nuMbeR

Rights 
Vested 

duRing 
yeAR

nuMbeR

executive director
C holgate  8,843  33,081  (8,843)  (2,051)  31,030  31,030  -   31,030  31,030 

senior executives
p Barraket  1,588  6,718  (1,588)  (1,222)  5,496  5,496  -   5,496  5,496 

l Burrows  1,248  5,408  (1,248)  (986)  4,422  4,422  -   4,422  4,422 

r henfrey  254  6,294  (254)  (1,145)  5,149  5,149  -   5,149  5,149 

C last  -   1,155  -   (210)  945  945  -   945  945 

s moore  282  6,502  (282)  (1,182)  5,320  5,320  -   5,320  5,320 

p Osborne  170  -   (170)  -   -   -   -   -   -  

l richards  1,209  5,405  (1,209)  (983)  4,422  4,422  -   4,422  4,422 

former kmp’s and senior executives
g Burgoyne  -   5,744  -   (5,744)  -   -   -   -   -  

r rich3  39  136  (39)  (25)  111  111  -   111  111 

total (for key 
Management 
personnel)  13,633  70,443  (13,633)  (13,548)  56,895  56,895  -   56,895  56,895 

1. Rights granted and vested during the financial year ended 30 June 2011 for K Cunningham are for the period as a KMP (1 April to 30 June 2011).

2. Rights granted and vested during the financial year ended 30 June 2011 for N Mercado and G Perera are for the period as a KMP (1 June to 30 June 2011).

3. Rights granted and vested during the financial year ended 30 June 2010 for R Rich are for the period as a KMP (1 May 2009 to 3 September 2009).

32.4 loan disclosures
There were no loan balances exceeding $100,000 due from Key Management Personnel during or at the end of the financial year 
(2010: nil)

32.5 other transactions with key management personnel
key management personnel received dividends on their shareholdings, whether held privately or through related entities or 
through the employee share plans in the same manner as all ordinary shareholders.

no interest was paid to or received from key management personnel.
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32.  related party and key management persOnnel 
disClOsures (COntinued)

32.6 related party transactions
the immediate parent and ultimate controlling party of the group is Blackmores limited (incorporated in australia).

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been 
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. details of transactions between the group and other related parties 
are disclosed below.

tRAding tRAnsACtions
during the year, group entities did not enter into any trading transactions with related parties that are not members of the group 
(2010: nil).

bAlAnCes With RelAted pARties
There were no balances outstanding at the end of the financial year with related parties that are not members of the Group (2010: nil).

eQuity inteRest in subsidiARies
details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in subsidiaries are disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

33. nOtes tO the COnsOlidated statement Of Cash flOws
33.1 reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
for the purposes of the consolidated statement of Cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and 
investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
year as shown in the consolidated statement of Cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the consolidated statement of 
financial position as follows:

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Cash and bank balances  10,168  15,507 

Cash at call  -   6,000 

Cash and cash equivalents  10,168  21,507 

33.2 financing facilities

secured bank overdraft facility, reviewed annually and payable at call:

• amount used  -   -  

• amount unused  5,000  2,500 

 5,000  2,500 

secured bank bill acceptance facility, reviewed annually:

• amount used  40,000  47,356 

• amount unused  15,000  7,644 

 55,000  55,000 

The Group has access to financing facilities at reporting date as indicated above. The Group expects to meet its other obligations 
from operating cash flows and proceeds of maturing financial assets. The Group expects to maintain a current debt to equity ratio 
of between 20% and 35%.
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33.3 reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash flows from operating activities

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

Profit for the year  27,305  24,297 

loss on disposal of non-current assets 5 36

Interest revenue disclosed as investing cash-flow  (161)  (427)

depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  4,529  4,141 

unrealised foreign exchange (gain)/loss  (227)  121 

share-based payments 1,139  880 

Other  (959)  200 

(decrease)/increase in current tax liability  (422)  1,873 

increase in deferred tax balances  (9)  (587)

decrease in deferred tax balances related to hedge reserve in equity  (63)  (160)

movements in working capital:

• Current receivables  (8,787)  1,740 

• Current inventories  (1,015)  (6,483)

• Other debtors and prepayments  914  (1,060)

• Current trade payables  (898)  755 

• Provisions  284  548 

net cash from operating activities  21,635  25,874 

33.4 non-cash transactions
Dividend payments during the financial year totalled $19,107,035 (2010: $16,331,411) of which $nil (2010: $3,667,291) relates to 
shares created under the dividend reinvestment plan (drp). during the year ended 30 June 2010, the Company suspended the 
dividend reinvestment plan and as a result issued no shares during the year ended 30 June 2011 under its drp. the balance of 
$19,107,035 (2010: $12,664,120) was paid as cash to equity holders of the parent.

34. finanCial instruments
34.1 capital risk management
the group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return 
to stakeholders through optimisation of the debt and equity balance. the group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2010. 

the capital structure of the group consists of net debt (borrowings as disclosed in note 19 offset by cash and cash equivalents as 
disclosed in note 33) and equity of the group (comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in notes 22 
and 23 respectively).

the group operates globally, primarily through the Company and subsidiary companies established in the markets in which the 
group trades. none of the entities within the group are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Operating cash flows are used to maintain and expand the Group’s production and distribution assets, as well as make the routine 
outflows of tax, dividends and repayment of maturing debt. The Group’s policy is to borrow centrally, using a variety of capital 
market issues and borrowing facilities, to meet anticipated funding requirements. 

the group’s audit and risk Committee reviews the capital structure of the group on a semi-annual basis. Based upon 
recommendations of the Committee, the group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, 
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or redemption of existing debt with third parties and, if 
appropriate, related parties.



92

nOtes tO the finanCial statements
fOr the finanCial year ended 30 June 2011

34. finanCial instruments (COntinued)
geARing RAtio
the gearing ratio at the end of the year was as follows:

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

debt1  40,000  47,356 

Cash and bank balances  (10,168)  (21,507)

net debt  29,832  25,849 

equity2  79,112  71,790 

net debt to (net debt plus equity) ratio 27.4% 26.5%

1. Debt is defined as long- and short-term borrowings, as detailed in note 19.

2. equity includes all capital and reserves that are managed as capital.

CAtegoRies oF FinAnCiAl instRuMents

financial Assets
Cash and bank balances  10,168  21,507 

loans and receivables  45,530  36,494 

 55,698  58,001 

financial Liabilities
derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships  155  433 

Fair value through profit or loss – designated as at FVTPL  -   227 

loans and payables  65,843  73,931 

 65,998  74,591 

34.2 financial risk management objectives
the group’s Corporate treasury function provides services to the business, coordinates access to domestic and international 
financial markets and monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group.

The Group seeks to minimise the effects of currency risk and interest rate risk by using derivative financial instruments to hedge 
these risk exposures. The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies, approved by the Board of Directors, 
which provide written principles on foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, and the use of financial derivatives.

34.3 significant accounting policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement 
and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset and financial liability, are 
disclosed in note 3.5 to the consolidated financial statements.

34.4 foreign currency risk management
The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. 
exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters utilising forward foreign exchange contracts and options.

the group is mainly exposed to thai Baht (thB), malaysian ringgit (myr), hong kong dollar (hkd), taiwan dollar (twd), 
singapore dollar (sgd) and united states dollar (usd).
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the australian dollar carrying amount of the group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at 
the end of the financial year are as follows.

ASSEtS LiABiLitiES

2011
$’000 

2010
$’000 

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

united states dollar (usd)  1,526  -   -   -  

thai Baht (thB) 4,104 3,844  -   -  

malaysian ringgit (myr) 1,757 1,003  -   -  

singapore dollar (sgd) 1,231 1,542  -   -  

FoReign CuRRenCy sensitiVity AnAlysis
the following table details the group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the australian dollar against the relevant 
foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel 
and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. the sensitivity analysis includes only 
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the financial year end for a 10% change 
in foreign currency rates. 

pROfit OR LOSS Equity

2011
$’000 

2010
$’000 

2011
$’000 

2010
$’000 

usd impact  -   -   153  -  

thB impact  -   -  410  384  

myr impact  -   -  176  100  

sgd impact  -   -  123  154  

from time to time during the year, the group entered into foreign currency forward exchange contracts and option contracts in 
order to reduce foreign currency risk.

the group’s sensitivity to foreign currency has been reduced during the current year due to the opening of the usd bank account 
to utilise the natural hedge between intercompany receipts from asia and usd exposure on purchases of raw materials.

FoRWARd FoReign exChAnge ContRACts
it is the policy of the group to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to cover the risk associated with certain anticipated 
sales to foreign controlled entities arising in the next 12 months.

the following table details the forward foreign currency (fC) contracts outstanding as at the reporting date:

AvERAgE  
ExChAngE RAtE fOREign CuRREnCy COntRACt vALuE fAiR vALuE

outstAnding ContRACts 2011 2010
2011

FC’000
2010

FC’000
2011

$’000
2010

$’000
2011

$’000
2010

$’000

SELL thAi BAht
less than 3 months  -  29.94  -   36,000  -   1,202  -   (125)

3 to 6 months  -  26.79  -   42,000  -   1,568  -   -  

SELL MALAySiAn RinggitS
less than 3 months  -  2.96  -   3,000  -   1,013  -   (87)

3 to 6 months  -  2.74  -   3,300  -   1,204  -   (15)

 -   4,987  -   (227)

option ContRACts
while the group utilised option contracts during the year, there were no open contracts at 30 June 2011.
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34. finanCial instruments (COntinued) 
34.5 interest rate risk management
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as it borrows funds on a floating interest rate basis. The risk is managed by the Group by 
the use of interest rate swap contracts. 

the following table sets out the group’s exposure to interest rate risk. 

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

financial Liabilities
Borrowings  (40,000)  (47,356)

interest rate swap1  30,000  30,000 

net exposure  (10,000)  (17,356)

forward setting interest rate swaps1, 2  10,000  -  

1. represents the notional amount of the interest rate swaps. 
2. On 24 June 2011, the group transacted into forward setting interest rate swaps that will settle and come into effect in January 2012.

the following table details the notional amounts and remaining terms of interest rate swap contracts outstanding as at reporting date:

AvERAgE COntRACtEd fixEd 
intERESt RAtE

nOtiOnAL pRinCipAL 
AMOunt fAiR vALuE

2011
%

2010
%

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

OutStAnding fixEd fOR 
fLOAting COntRACtS
less than 1 year  5.92  -   30,000  -   (141)  -  

1 to 2 years  -   5.92  -   30,000  -   (433)

2 to 5 years  5.07  -   5,000  -   5  -  

> 5 years  5.61  -   5,000  -   (19)  -  

 40,000  30,000  (155)  (433)

The interest rate swaps settle on a quarterly basis. The floating rate on the interest rate swaps is the Australian bank bill swap bid 
rate. All interest rate swap contracts are designated as cash flow hedges.

The Group will settle the difference between fixed and floating interest on a net basis.

All other financial assets and liabilities (in the current and prior financial years) are non-interest bearing.

inteRest RAte sensitiVity AnAlysis
the sensitivity analyses below have been determined based upon the exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-
derivative instruments at the reporting date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held 
constant throughout the year. a 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key 
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in interest rates. 

for the year ended 30 June 2011, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held 
constant, the Group’s net profit would decrease by $212,087 (2010: $236,778) or increase by $212,087 (2010: $236,778) 
respectively as a result of changes in the interest rates applicable to commercial bank bills.

for the year ended 30 June 2011, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held 
constant, the group’s other equity reserves would increase by $242,000 or decrease by $237,000 respectively (2010: increase 
by $105,000 or decrease by $400,000 respectively) mainly as a result of the changes in the fair value of the interest rate swap.

the group’s sensitivity to interest rates has decreased during the current year due to the shorter remaining term of the $30 million 
interest rate swap. there has been no change to the manner in which the group manages and measures the risk from the previous year. 

inteRest RAte sWAp ContRACts
Under interest rate swap contracts, the Group agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate interest amounts 
calculated on agreed notional principal amounts. such contracts enable the group to mitigate the risk of changing interest rates 
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on the fair value of issued fixed rate debt and the cash flow exposures on the issued variable rate debt. The fair value of interest 
rate swaps at the end of the reporting period is determined by discounting the future cash flows using the curves at the end of 
the reporting period and the credit risk inherent in the contract, and is disclosed below. the average interest rate is based on the 
outstanding balances at the end of the reporting period.

In 2006, the Group entered into an interest rate swap with a notional amount of $30 million, a fixed rate of 5.92% and a forward 
start date of January 2007. this contract expires in January 2012.

During the financial year the Group entered into two interest rate swaps with a notional amount of $5 million each. These had 
fixed rates of 5.07% and 5.61% respectively and a forward start date of January 2012. These contracts expire in January 2014 and 
January 2017 respectively.

34.6 credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The 
group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties. the group only transacts with entities that have a positive 
credit history. the information used to determine creditworthiness is supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if not 
available, the Group uses publicly available financial information, trade references and its own trading record to rate its major customers.

Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable and, where appropriate, credit guarantee 
insurance cover is purchased. the quality of trade receivables has been discussed in note 12.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit 
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the consolidated Financial Statements, net of any allowances for losses, 
represents the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

there has been no change to the group’s exposure to credit risk or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk from the 
previous year.

34.7 liquidity risk management
ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of directors, which has established an appropriate 
liquidity risk management framework for the management of the group’s short-, medium- and long-term funding and liquidity 
management requirements. the group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities and through 
the continual monitoring of forecast and actual cash flows.

liQuidity And inteRest Risk tAbles
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with agreed 
repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.

Weighted 
AVeRAge 

eFFeCtiVe 
inteRest 

RAte %
 <1 Month

$’000
1-3 Months

$’000

3 Months to 
1 yeAR

$’000
1-5 yeARs

$’000
> 5 yeARs

$’000
totAl 
$’000

2011
trade and other 
payables 0.00  -   25,843  -   -   -   25,843 
Borrowings 5.78  -   -   2,310  44,620  -   46,930 

 -   25,843  2,310  44,620  -   72,773 

2010
trade and other 
payables 0.00  -   26,575  -   -   -   26,575 

Borrowings 5.39  -   -   2,552  52,459  -   55,011 

 -   26,575  2,552  52,459  -   81,586 

there has been no change to the group’s exposure to liquidity risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk from 
the previous year.
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34. finanCial instruments (COntinued)
The following table details the Group’s expected maturity for its non-derivative financial assets. The table has been drawn up based 
on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets. The inclusion 
of information on non-derivative financial assets is necessary in order to understand the Group’s liquidity risk management as the 
liquidity is managed on a net asset and liability basis.

Weighted 
AVeRAge 

eFFeCtiVe 
inteRest 

RAte %
 <1 Month

$’000
1-3 Months

$’000

3 Months to 
1 yeAR

$’000
1-5 yeARs

$’000
> 5 yeARs

$’000
totAl 
$’000

2011
non-interest 
bearing 0.00  46,312  -   -   -   -   46,312 
variable interest 
rate instruments 0.92  9,386  -   -   -   -   9,386 
fixed interest rate 
instruments 0.00  -   -   -   -   -   -  

 55,698  -   -   -   -   55,698 

2010
non-interest 
bearing 0.00  43,048  -   -   -   -   43,048 

variable interest 
rate instruments 4.00  8,953  -   -   -   -   8,953 

fixed interest rate 
instruments 5.30  6,000  -   -   -   -   6,000 

 58,001  -   -   -   -   58,001 

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for both non-derivative financial assets and liabilities is subject to 
change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the financial year.

The following table details the Group’s liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments. The table has been drawn up based 
on the undiscounted net cash inflows/(outflows) on the derivative instrument that settle on a net basis and the undiscounted gross 
inflows/(outflows) on those derivatives that require gross settlement. When the amount payable or receivable is not fixed, the 
amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates as illustrated by the yield curves existing at the 
reporting date.

 <1 Month
$’000

1-3 Months
$’000

3 Months to 
1 yeAR

$’000
1-5 yeARs

$’000
> 5 yeARs

$’000
totAl 
$’000

2011
net settled:

interest rate swaps  (66)  -   (81)  (77)  0  (224)
foreign exchange forward 
exchange contracts  -   -   -   -   -   -  

 (66)  -   (81)  (77)  0  (224)

2010
net settled:

interest rate swaps  (76)  -   (216)  (150)  -   (442)

foreign exchange forward 
exchange contracts  (70)  (143)  (15)  -   -   (227)

 (146)  (143)  (231)  (150)  -   (670)
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34.8 fair value of financial instruments
The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at amortised cost in the 
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

VAluAtion teChniQues And AssuMptions Applied FoR the puRpose oF MeAsuRing FAiR VAlue
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:
•  the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets 

are determined with reference to quoted market prices;
•  the fair value of derivative instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are not available, use is made of 

discounted cash flow analysis using the applicable yield curve for the duration of the instruments for non-optional derivatives 
and option pricing models for optional derivatives; and

•  the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are determined in accordance 
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market 
transactions.

FAiR VAlue MeAsuReMents ReCognised in the ConsolidAted stAteMent oF FinAnCiAl position
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, 
grouped into levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.
•   Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities.
•   Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
•   Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are 

not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

2011
leVel 1

$’000
leVel 2

$’000
leVel 3

$’000
totAl
$’000

financial Assets at fvtpL:
Derivative financial assets  -   -   -   -  
Non-derivative financial assets held for trading  -   -   -   -  

Available-for-sale financial Assets:
unquoted equities  -   -   -   -  
Asset-backed securities reclassified from fair value through profit 
or loss  -   -   -   -  

total  -   -   -   -  

financial liabilities at fvtpL:
Derivative financial liabilities  -   155  -   155 
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss  -   -   -   -  

total  -   155  -   155 
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34. finanCial instruments (COntinued)

2010
leVel 1

$’000
leVel 2

$’000
leVel 3

$’000
totAl
$’000

financial Assets at fvtpL:
Derivative financial assets  -   -   -   -  

Non-derivative financial assets held for trading  -   -   -   -  

Available-for-sale financial Assets:
unquoted equities  -   -   -   -  

Asset-backed securities reclassified from fair value through profit 
or loss  -   -   -   -  

total  -   -   -   -  

financial liabilities at fvtpL:
Derivative financial liabilities  -   433  -   433 

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss  -   227  -   227 

total  -   660  -   660 

there were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 in the period.

deRiVAtiVes
forward foreign currency exchange contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves derived from 
quoted interest rates matching maturities of the contracts.

Interest rate swaps are measured at present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based upon the applicable yield 
curves derived from quoted interest rates.

35. assets pledged as seCurity
in accordance with the security arrangements of liabilities, as disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, all 
assets of the parent entity have been pledged as security. the holder of the security does not have the right to sell or repledge  
the assets. 

36. Business COmBinatiOns
36.1 subsidiaries acquired
2011

ACQuisition oF puRe AniMAl Wellbeing pty liMited
On 2 July 2010, the group signed an agreement to acquire 100% of the issued capital of pure animal wellbeing pty ltd (‘paw’) 
for a purchase price of $2,000,000 payable in cash. the results of paw have been consolidated by the group from this date. 
Subsequently, during the financial year the PAW business and operations were incorporated into the Blackmores business in the 
form of the paw animal health division. 

paw developed and marketed natural dietary supplements and topical products for dogs and cats which were sold in veterinary 
clinics and speciality stores in australia, new Zealand and korea. Blackmores’ paw animal health division now performs these 
activities and now also sells into Canada.

paw was acquired so as to provide Blackmores with a well-positioned entry into the fast-growing segment of natural health 
products for pets.

2010
No acquisitions were made in the financial year ended 30 June 2010.
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2011
$’000

2010
$’000

36.2 consideration transferred

Cash and cash equivalents transferred  2,000  -  

36.3 assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition

CuRRent Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  32  -  

trade receivables  74  -  

inventory  180  -  

non-CuRRent Assets

property, plant and equipment  6  -  

intangible assets  1,230  -  

CuRRent liAbilities

trade and other creditors  (166)  -  

provisions  (13)  -  

 1,343  -  

the receivables acquired (which principally comprised trade receivables) in this transaction with a fair value of $77,000 had 
a gross contractual amount of $77,000. The best estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash flows not expected to be 
collected are $nil. 

36.4 goodwill arising on acquisition
The goodwill recognised on acquisition is subject to impairment testing on an annual basis. At the end of the financial year the 
Directors were satisfied that no impairment was necessary in this financial year.

Consideration transferred  2,000  -  

Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired  (1,343)  -  

goodwill arising on acquisition1  657  -  

goodwill arose in the acquisition of paw because the consideration paid for the combination effectively included amounts in 
relation to the benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the assembled workforce of PAW. 
These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable 
intangible assets.

1. the goodwill arising on the acquisition represents the only goodwill in the group’s books at the reporting date.

36.5 net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries

Consideration paid in cash  2,000  -  

less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired  (32)  -  

 1,968  -  

36.6 impact of acquisitions on the results of the group
Included in the profit for the year is a loss of $624,000 attributable to the business generated by the PAW Animal Health Division. 
revenue for the year includes $1,392,000 in respect of the paw animal health division.
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nOtes tO the finanCial statements
fOr the finanCial year ended 30 June 2011

37. parent entity disClOsures
The accounting policies of the Parent Entity, which have been applied in determining the financial information shown below, are the 
same as those applied in the consolidated Financial Statements. Refer to note 3 for a summary of the significant accounting policies 
relating to the group.

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

finAnCiAL pOSitiOn

Assets

Current assets  60,495  64,016 

non-current assets  78,003  77,240 

total assets  138,498  141,256 

liAbilities

Current liabilities  29,259  31,326 

non-current liabilities  40,792  48,097 

total liabilities  70,051  79,423 

eQuity

issued capital  25,348  25,348 

retained earnings  38,451  33,122 

reserves

 Equity-settled employee benefits reserve  4,805  3,666 

 hedge reserve  (157)  (303)

total equity  68,447  61,833 

finAnCiAL pERfORMAnCE
Profit for the year  24,437  21,337 

Other comprehensive income  146  373 

total comprehensive income  24,583  21,710 

guARAntEES EntEREd intO By thE pAREnt Entity in RELAtiOn tO thE dEBtS Of itS SuBSidiARiES
the Company has provided letters of support in relation to pat health ltd and Blackmores (taiwan) ltd, both wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of the group.

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company will have sufficient financial accommodation to enable payment 
of the subsidiaries’ debts as and when they fall due for a period of at least 12 months from the date of signing the local financial 
statements of the abovementioned entities. 

COntingEnt LiABiLitiES
The building contractor in respect of the construction of the Company’s Warriewood head office has commenced court 
proceedings against Blackmores, claiming additional monies to the fixed price contract sum. The Company is defending the 
proceedings, has denied these claims and has brought cross claims against the building contractor for a return of a payment on 
account, in addition to compensation for delays and costs relating to certain defects. the directors believe that Blackmores will not 
face a liability to the contractor. accordingly, no liability has been recorded in relation to the building contractor’s claims as at  
30 June 2011.
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nOtes tO the finanCial statements
fOr the finanCial year ended 30 June 2011

COMMitMEntS fOR thE ACquiSitiOn Of pROpERty, pLAnt And EquipMEnt By thE pAREnt Entity

plAnt And eQuipMent

not longer than 1 year  1,436  -  

longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years  -   -  

longer than 5 years  -   -  

 1,436  -  

38. events after the repOrting periOd
FinAl diVidend
The Directors declared a fully franked final dividend of 80 cents per share on 18 August 2011 as described in note 26.

Other than the final dividend disclosed above, there has not been any matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the 
financial year that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the Group’s operations, the result of those operations or the 
Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

39. apprOval Of finanCial statements
the consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of directors and authorised for issue on 18 august 2011.
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numBer Of hOlders Of eQuity 
seCurities as at 5 august 2011:
ORdinARy ShARE CApitAL
16,747,703 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 7,208 
shareholders.

all issued ordinary shares carry one vote per share, and are 
entitled to participate in dividends.

there are no options in existence.

there are no restricted securities.

there is no current on-market buy-back.

diStRiButiOn Of hOLdERS 
Of Equity SECuRitiES

spReAd oF holdings
no. oF oRdinARy 

shAReholdeRs

1 – 1,000 4,879

1,001 – 5,000 2,027

5,001 – 10,000 181

10,001 – 100,000 105

100,001 and over 16

total 7,208

holdings less than a marketable parcel 134

SuBStAntiAL ShAREhOLdERS

fuLLy pAid

oRdinARy shAReholdeRs nuMbeR peRCentAge

marcus C Blackmore 4,479,278 26.75

tWEnty LARgESt hOLdERS Of quOtEd 
Equity SECuRitiES AS At 5 AuguSt 2011

fuLLy pAid

oRdinARy shAReholdeRs nuMbeR peRCentAge

mr m C Blackmore 3,540,020 21.14

dietary products  
(aust) pty ltd 588,592 3.51

Citicorp nominees  
pty limited 432,137 2.58

milton Corporation limited 347,066 2.07

national nominees limited 278,280 1.66

Jp morgan nominees 
australia limited 222,572 1.33

gowing Bros limited 207,363 1.24

Blackmore foundation  
pty limited 200,000 1.19

ms e m whellan 186,822 1.12

ms J a tait 177,213 1.06

hsBC Custody nominees 
(australia) limited 176,067 1.05

Blackmore superannuation 
fund 144,503 0.86

rBC dexia investor  
services australia nominees 
pty limited 126,382 0.75

mr r shepherd 115,000 0.69

rathvale pty limited 102,005 0.61

ms C holgate 90,233 0.54

mrs p g wright 88,989 0.53

p g wright, m g wright  
and J g wright 63,530 0.38

trans state nominees pty ltd 
(a/C mcphee family) 59,150 0.35

invia Custodian pty ltd 
(a/C s mcClay) 54,442 0.33

total 7,200,366 43.00

additiOnal infOrmatiOn
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COmpany seCretary
the Company secretary is Cecile Cooper.

prinCipal plaCe Of Business
20 Jubilee avenue 
warriewood nsw 2102 
telephone 61 2 9910 5000

registered OffiCe 
20 Jubilee avenue 
warriewood nsw 2102 
telephone 61 2 9910 5000

share registry
Computershare investor Services pty Limited
level 3, 60 Carrington street 
sydney nsw 2000 
(gpO Box 7045 sydney nsw 1115)

telephone 61 2 8234 5000 
facsimile 61 2 8234 5050

seCurities exChange listing
Blackmores limited’s ordinary shares are quoted by the 
australian securities exchange limited, listing code Bkl.

direCt payment tO sharehOlders’ 
Bank aCCOunts
dividends may be paid directly to bank, building society 
or credit union accounts in australia. these payments are 
electronically credited on the dividend date and confirmed 
by mail. the Company encourages you to participate in this 
arrangement, so please contact our share registry.

Change Of address
shareholders who have changed address should advise our 
share registry in writing.

tax file numBer
There may be benefit to shareholders in lodging their tax file 
number with the share registry. 

sharehOlder disCOunt plan
shareholders can buy products for personal use at 30 per 
cent off the recommended retail price. all shareholders 
have been given details of the plan, but please contact the 
Company secretary on 61 2 9910 5137 if you would like  
more information.

COrpOrate gOvernanCe prinCiples
the Corporate governance principles adopted by the 
Company are available on our website at blackmores.com.au 
(go to ‘investors’, then click on ‘Corporate governance’; or 
contact the Company secretary). 

annual repOrt mailing
shareholders who do not want the annual report or who 
are receiving more than one copy should advise the share 
registrar in writing. these shareholders will continue to receive 
all other shareholder information.

the annual report is available on our website at blackmores.com.au 
(go to ‘investors’, then click on ‘annual report’).

tO COnsOlidate sharehOldings
shareholders who want to consolidate their separate 
shareholdings into one account should advise the share 
registrar in writing.

investOr infOrmatiOn
securities analysts and institutional investors seeking 
information about the Company should, in the first instance, 
contact adrian sturrock, investor relations manager,  
on 61 2 9910 5373.

COmpany infOrmatiOn
Board of directors
directors who are executives of the group:

marcus C Blackmore (Chairman of directors)

Christine Holgate (Chief Executive Officer)

directors who are not executives of the group
stephen J Chapman 

verilyn C fitzgerald

robert l stovold 

naseema sparks

Brent w wallace

Auditor
deloitte touche tohmatsu

Solicitor
david lemon

Bank
national australia Bank limited

Blackmores Online
Blackmores has a popular website containing information on a 
more natural approach to health and the Company in general. 
the address is blackmores.com.au

COmpany infOrmatiOn
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thank you to the stars of our 2011 
Blackmores Annual report photo shoot.

Blackmores’ staff (left to right, top to bottom): adrian sturrock, shanna Colver and Brian Coles,  
trish alexander and tiffany elvy, sonny matteo, Carl gagnon, dee hanley, david vick and mark Johnson, 
Bianca hosking and laity samsudin, shanna Colver. 
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